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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

RG]

For the year ended 31 March 2016 #E T — < H=A=+—HILFE

2016 2015
—EB-AF —
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Proceeds from disposals of financial assets  H&EEAFEFALEES

at fair value through profit or loss BECZHBEEZFRERIE 40,522 241,340
Revenue KA 602 227

Loss for the year attributable to owners of AATEEABGEFEEIE
the Company (23,974) (88,885)
2016 2015
—B-RF e
Net asset value per share BREEFE HK$0.032 #Jt HK$0.023 7T
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of China Investment
Development Limited (the “"Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March
2016.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company and its subsidiaries are engaged in investment
holding for medium to long-term capital appreciation purposes,
and investment in listed and unlisted securities. There have been no
significant changes in the nature of the Group's principal activities

during the year.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2016 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 38 of the annual report. The

directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Business Review and Future Prospect

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a
discussion on the Group's future business development are
provided in the Management Discussion and Analysis section on

pages 16 to 20 of this Annual Report.

Financial Key Performance Indicators

An analysis of the Group's performance during the year using
financial key performance indicators is provided in the Management
Discussion and Analysis section on pages 16 to 20 of this Annual

Report.

Important Events after the Year-end Date
No important events affecting the Group that have occurred since
the end of the financial year ended 31 March 2016.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group's principal business activities are exposed to a variety
of key risks including credit risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk,
operational risk and market risk. Details of the aforesaid key
risks and risk mitigation measures are set out in “Financial Risk

Management” in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
L i

Environmental Policy and Performance

We are committed to protect the environment by introducing a
green policy to enhance the awareness of environmental protection
among staff. The Group has implemented internal recycling
programme for office consumables such as toner cartridges and

paper to help protect the environment and natural resources.

The Group has also implemented energy saving practices in offices
and branch premises where applicable, such as taking initiatives to
reduce paper usage by encouraging the use of websites and online
version of corporate communications. As regards reduction of
power consumption, lighting, air-conditioners and office equipment

will be turned off when not in use.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements. The Group has been allocating resources
to ensure the Group's ongoing compliance with the updated
applicable rules and regulations. During the year under review,
the Group has complied, to the best of our knowledge, with the
Listing Rules, the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571
of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Companies Law, Company Law of
Bermuda, the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of

Hong Kong) and other relevant rules and regulations.

Relationships with key stakeholders
The Group's success lies also on the support from key stakeholders,

including shareholders, employees, bankers, and service providers.

Shareholders

One of the corporate goals of the Group is to enhance corporate
value to our shareholders. Description of the shareholders’
rights and our investor relations can be found in the Corporate

Governance Report on pages 29 to 31 of this Annual Report.

Employees

The Group treasures our employees as the most important assets
of the Group. The objective of the Group's human resources
management is to reward and recognise our employees by
providing a competitive remuneration package, appropriate
incentives such as share options and bonus, and opportunities

within the Group for career advancement.

6 Annual Report &% 2016
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Bankers
The Group has maintained excellent relationship with our bankers
and has been soliciting funds from our bankers as and when

necessary.

Service Providers

The Group's good relationships with its key service providers are
important in our provision of effective and efficient services as well
as meeting business challenges and regulatory requirements. The
key service providers provide professional services to the Group

which are key to our success.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment during the

year are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the authorised and issued share capital of the Company

are set out in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on page 41 and in note 23 to the consolidated

financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2016, in the opinion of the Directors, the Company
had no reserves available for distribution to shareholders (2015:
HKSNi).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

As the Group is engaged in investment holding for medium to
long-term capital appreciation purposes, and investment in listed
and unlisted securities, there are no major customers and suppliers

during the year.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 116. This
summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial

statements.

HEA

ERRIT
AEBRRMNERBITHEIFRENEER LORY
ERERMNERRITERER

RERMEE

AEEER T B RFEMANRSEBEEERMEMR
DR EHRERBRETEERAEMS TOE
2 -IERBEAAATEERREXRBEEAEE

M- -BERRZRE
EADE BMEREEREAFEZE
B SRR I RE15

HBEHNERE

IR
ARBEERBBEITRAHBHENEAMBEREK
BEE22

E 3]
REBRARBRAFE 2 FHEBFE D HER
FNAZHERDEHRRERAMBRERM T -

A 7 ik f# R
R-B—AFZA=+—B EERK AQALE
ASRTBRRZEEE (ZB—RF THIL) -

ITREFRHAER
HRARBEZEBRABARENESHHERME
AIRME  ARRER LT RIFETES  FIRAF
B ETBES RMER-

BHBE
AEERBEREMBRFECEEANEERBE
MEHNENCE I BL M EREEZERS P
WRER D -

Annual Report %3 2016 7



China Investment Development Limited o A B & FHEAR A E
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee
Mr. Zhang Xuming (appointed on 14 March 201¢)
Non-executive Director:

Mr. Chen Yin

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Fong Wo, Felix
Mr. Leung Wing Kin
Mr. Leung Chi Kong

In accordance with Bye-law 120 of the Company’s by-law (“Bye-
laws”) Mr. Zhang Xuming shall retire at the forthcoming annual
general meeting ("AGM"), and being eligible, offer himself for re-
election; and in accordance with Bye-law 153, Mr. Chan Cheong Yee
and Mr. Leung Chi Kong will retire at the AGM and, being eligible,

offer themselves for re-election thereat.

Each of the Directors’ terms of office is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting in

accordance with the Bye-laws.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 32 to 35 of the

annual report.

8 Annual Report & 2016

=
RAFEARBEERAREBMZARRESHT

BITES:
REELE
REBAKE (R-ZF-ANFZAFHAEZE)
FHTES:

BRORLEE

BYFHITES:
7 MEE
R E

RIBAR R 2 AR ([ RARI]) F1201% - 5k /B B3
FEBREERRBFRE (IRRBFKRE]) LR
T ANAERLMEEREREL: RREARMAE
1535 REFLERREREEBNBREFKE
BE - BRNEERLBENE LERS(E-

SEFARBERATNAIRBRIAF AR HEREL
BEEE-
EEREREEERERE

ARBBEZERAEESREIEE 2 BEHNAFER
$32E35H o



China Investment Development Limited o 1Bl & % AR A A

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2016, the interests and short positions held by
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance, the "SFO") as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“"Model Code") as set out in Appendix 10 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”)

were as follows:

Long position in shares and underlying shares of the
Company

HEA

EERFETHRAERKRS HEROKE
R s

R-B—RNEZA=+—B EERAQANEBTR
ABRAAR REAABEE (FERESFRAEED
(IFEHREEGED]) EXVED) Z 1D - 8RR MmE
BEETR BB R ARRAIREEF NS 5555352
FEABEZECMzERZR AR KRBEFEHAS
RGEBRATR (THRAT])EFH LEMHRA (T EMR
A ER10FTH E M B ITAEBHTESF X HMIEZ
#FAI(MEESFA) ERTNERR B RE R Z
Eam AR :

my 2

FARRDRERRG 2 HFA

Number of shares/underlying shares held

FrisiR%,HEROEBE
Number
of shares
Capacity in issuable Approximate
Name of Director/ which interests Number of on Share Total percentage of
chief executive are held shares held options held interests  shareholding
FrisiB R
Z BT i R
Ex FETRABHE SEEZZEH FrisRH#E R7EE B BMABDH
(Note 2) (Note 1)
(B1at2) (Baz1)
Mr. Chen Yin (note 3) Interest of controlled  1,091,880,000 - 1,091,880,000 12.22%
BRIELSE & (H1523) corporation
St NG o
Beneficial owner - 27,300,000 27,300,000 0.31%
BEEEAA
Mr. Fong Wo, Felix Beneficial owner - 30,000,000 30,000,000 0.34%
T ML EREAA
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee Beneficial owner - 81,100,000 81,100,000 0.91%
REELLE BESBEAA
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
L i

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND

EERFETHRAERKRS HERORE
R 2 R ()

DEBENTURES (continued)

Long position in shares and underlying shares of the

RRARDREERD 2R (&)

Company (continued)

Number of shares/underlying shares held

FERG HERGHE
Number
of shares
Capacity in issuable Approximate
Name of Director/ which interests Number of on Share Total percentage of
chief executive are held shares held options held interests  shareholding
FriziB R
Z 1T i R
Exs FETRABHE BEERZ5H FiERH A R EE AR BMABDE
(Note 2) (Note 1)
(Htet2) (Htat1)
Mr. Leung Wing Kin Beneficial owner - 10,000,000 10,000,000 0.11%
RS EnEEA
Mr. Leung Chi Kong Beneficial owner - 20,000,000 20,000,000 0.22%
2EMm k4 EREAA
Mr. Zhang Xuming (note 4) Interest of controlled 722,640,000 - 722,640,000 8.09%
SRIBRRSE & (Hf5t4) corporation
REHI AR R
Beneficial owner - 81,100,000 81,100,000 0.91%
EREAA
Notes: Htaz -

1.

10

The percentage of shareholding is calculated on the basis of the
Company's issued share capital of 8,936,757,294 shares as at 31 March
2016.

The relevant interests are share options granted pursuant to the
Company’s share option scheme adopted on 9 April 2009 (the
“Scheme”). Upon exercise of the share options in accordance with
the Scheme, ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each in the share capital
of the Company are issuable. The share options are personal to the
respective Directors and the holders thereof are entitled to subscribe
for shares of the Company.

Mr. Chen Yin is deemed to have interest in 1,091,880,000 shares in
the Company held by Micah Holdings Limited Investments Limited, a
private company wholly-owned by Ms. Ji Jie, the spouse of Mr. Chen.

The 722,640,000 shares are held by Salus Investments Limited, a
company wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Zhang Xuming, an
executive Director and the chief executive officer of the Company.

Annual Report &% 2016
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES (continued)

Long position in shares and underlying shares of the
Company (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2016, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had any interests or
short positions in shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The detailed disclosures relating to the Company’s share option
scheme and valuation of options are set out in note 24 to the

consolidated financial statements.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2016, the following persons, other than a Director
or chief executive of the Company, were interested or had short
positions in more than 5% of the shares and underlying shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO:

HEA

EERFETHRAERKRS HERORE
R 2 R ()

RRARDREERD 2R (&)

BREXEBRBEN RZE—ARF=-A=+—H &=
AR R EBITEA B AN AR R ok = A FH B
FE(EERABHFIAEKROIEXVED) 2G5 - 18
B REREEP  BECCALRRFRIREZSRHE
&P SE3521& A7 B v B M kiR IEIZ T RIE 51T
MERRNB R R ATz =k R -

B E
BRARRBRAEN B RBREG A FARES
BN A BB RERM 24 -

FERR

REIE-—RF=ZA=+—B BR—2FFRHAQAE
ZITBABSN RIREE 75 KB (R E 336G
Bz BT 58 AR R B L ARRI R {D5%
A ERSHIORBZ ALTIT

Approximate

Capacity in which Number of percentage of
Name of Shareholder Interests are held Shares held shareholding
BERER BB BEEZZEH FIEROEE HRESATIL
(Note 1)
(Hi71)
Micah Holdings Limited (note 2) Beneficial owner 1,091,880,000 12.22%
Micah Holdings Limited ( #73£2) BERHBA
JiJie Interests of controlled 1,091,880,000 12.22%
=2 corporation
Sk NGl
Salus Investments Limited (note 3) Beneficial owner 722,640,000 8.09%

Salus Investments Limited (#/:%3) Em#EA A

Annual Report %3 2016 11



China Investment Development Limited o A B & FMEAR A E

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
L i

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

Notes:

1. The percentage of shareholding is calculated on the basis of the
Company's issued share capital of 8,936,757,294 shares as at 31 March
2016.

2. Micah Holdings Limited, a private limited company incorporated in

the British Virgin Islands, and wholly and beneficially owned by Ms. Ji
Jie.

3. Salus Investments Limited, a private limited company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands, and wholly and beneficially owned by
Mr. Zhang Xuming, an executive Director and the chief executive
officer of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2016, the Company was
not notified of any persons, other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company, having any interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Apart from as disclosed under the heading “Directors' and Chief
Executive's interests in shares, underlying shares and debentures”
above, at no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
or of any other body corporate granted to any Directors or their
respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, or were any
such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors,
their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age to acquire

such rights in the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE AND CONNECTED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

No Director had a significant beneficial interest, either directly or
indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance
to the business of the Group to which the Company was a party
during or at the end of the year.

12 Annual Report &% 2016
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment

of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
As at the date of this report, none of the Directors and their
respective associates had any interest in a business which causes or
may cause a significant competition with the business of the Group
and any other conflict of interests which any such person has or may

have with the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s bye-laws and subject to the provisions
of the statutes, every Director or other officer of the Company shall
be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities which he may sustain or incur in
or about the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in
relation thereto, and no Director or other officer shall be liable
for any loss, damages or misfortune which may happen to or be
incurred by the Company in the execution of the duties of his office
or in relation thereto, provided that this bye-law shall only have
effect in so far as its provisions are not avoided by the Bermuda
Companies Act. The Company has maintained Directors and

officers liability insurance during the year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share option scheme of the Company as disclosed
above, no equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the
Company issuing shares or that require the Company to enter into
any agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares were entered into by the Company during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SHARES

During the year, the Company had not purchased, sold or
redeemed any of its listed securities.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES

There was no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries during
the year ended 31 March 2016.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
L i

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group's employees are selected, remunerated and promoted

based on their merit, qualifications and competence.

The Company adopted the model set out in Code Provision
B.1.2(c)(ii) of Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules as its remuneration
model for determining the emoluments of the Directors. This
model stipulates that the remuneration committee shall make
recommendations to the board of the Company (the “Board”) on
the remuneration packages of individual executive directors and
senior management. The remuneration committee of the Company
would take into consideration, among other things, the duties
and responsibilities of the Directors and senior management and

prevailing market conditions when determining their remuneration.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme to provide
incentives to eligible persons, including directors, employees,
consultants, suppliers and customers of the Group. Details of
the scheme are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial

statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws or
the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new

shares on a pro rata basis to the existing shareholders.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float as required under the Listing
Rules during the year and up to the date of this report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company set up an Audit Committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with the Listing Rules. Amongst other
duties, the principal duties of the Audit Committee are to review
and supervise the financial reporting process and internal control
of the Group. The Audit Committee comprises three independent
non-executive directors of the Company, namely Mr. Fong Wo,
Felix, Mr. Leung Wing Kin and Mr. Leung Chi Kong is the Chairman.
The audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2016 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

AUDITOR

For the year ended 31 March 2016, the consolidated financial
statements of the Company have been audited by BDO Limited
whose term of office will expire upon the forthcoming annual
general meeting. A resolution to re-appoint BDO Limited as auditor
of the Company will be proposed to the shareholders of the

Company for approval at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the board of directors

Chen Yin

Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 June 2016
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Group's revenue for the year ended 31 March 2016 was
approximately HK$602,000, which represented an increase of
approximately 165.20% when compared with that of last year.
The Group incurred a loss for the year attributable to owners of
the Company amounting to approximately HK$23,974,000, which
was decreased by approximately HK$64,911,000 or 73.03% when
compared with the loss of approximately HK$88,885,000 incurred
in last year. The Group's revenue represents interest income from
convertible bonds. The decrease in the loss for the year was mainly
attributable to the equity-settled share-based payment expense
for the share options granted by the Company for the past year,
the increase of change in fair value of financial asset at fair value
through profit or loss and the decrease in operating expenses
during the year under review. The net asset value per share of the
Group as at 31 March 2016 amounted to HK$0.032 (2015: HK$0.023).
The Board has decided not to declare a dividend for the year.

INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO
As at 31 March 2016, the details of all investments of the Group

were summarised as below:

Interests in an associate — unlisted equity securities

MEEE

HEZZ—AFZAZ+—BLEFE AEEKED
#602,00078 7T+ 8 A 18 A1 49165.20% © AN & B E A4
RNATEE AN BN NE E BB 423,974,000 7T+ 8
2= 4F FITEE 4 E518.4988,885,0007% TT 4 #964,911,00078
78k73.03% o REE W IR T IRREH 2 FI B U o

FEBBRLEZDHRBEARAN EL—FER
LERENESEEUROGHRAS  ERATERTA
FESEECUBEEATEESIE ML EBEFE
NELRLRLIB-R=_E—<"F=F=+—8"

NEEFREEFEAR0032ET (ZF—AF 10023
BIL) o & TERAFETIRRE

S rE
= R

rELS
RZEBE—RNEZA=+—8 AEEFEREFBEH
N

R—FRBEQAR 2 EH - F LTREES

Place of Percentage Proportion
incorporation/ of effective of voting Carrying
Name of investee company operation interest held power Cost value
MEER
EXRENTAR SR EE BmEAH REELLA B REE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THEL THET
Bonicast Construction Material People’s Republic of 49% 20% 6,080 5874

(Beijing) Co., Ltd (“Bonicast”) China ("PRC")
SEREEEMHE (AR)BRAF hEARAME
(T8RRE] (TeE])
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
A UL i i B A

INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO (continued) REAE (&)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss BRAFEFAEBBEECMBEE
(i)  Investment in convertible bonds (i) RERTERES
Name of investee company Place of incorporation Carrying Value
ESREATER E 1 B S 3t B EREE
HK$'000
FET
Guanwan Investments Limited British Virgin Islands 26,155
BEREBRAT REBAERES
(i) Investment in Hong Kong listed equity securities (i) RENBEBLTRARS
Number of Percentage of
Name of investee companies shares held interest held Market value
EZIREATRER FERGEE FEERES L &
HK$'000
FHET
CITIC Limited 30,000 0.0001% 354
REFPERNDBRQE
Echo International Holdings Group Limited 11,168,000 1.3960% 11,726
m (B EREEER QA
Available-for-sale Financial Assets AHENKEE
Percentage of
Place of effective
Name of investee companies incorporation interest held Carrying Value
B
BEZRELTER oF 0 AR 3L it Bh EZAEDL SREE
HK$'000
TAT
Tianjin Bao Xin Ying Precious Metals PRC 12.00% 7,168
Management Limited
REEERECBELEARLA i
GuangZhou Shi Da Jian Credit Guarantee Limited PRC 11.59% 6,663
BMNTERERERBERAF ae
China Petroleum Bio-Energy Company Limited Hong Kong 5.69% 60,815
PERmRLEYERER QA )
Yenbo Gain Limited BVI 18.18% 15,059
BBNERRA REERES
Perfect Worth Investment Limited BVI 5.00% 3,770
REBERES

Further details of all investments of the Group are included in note BEAREBEZHKRE 2 E—PFBHNGEE W HER
17 to note 19 to the consolidated financial statements. M7 E M9 o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES

On 25 September 2015, the Company entered into a placing
agreement with a placing agent pursuant to which the placing
agent has conditionally agreed to place, to not less than six placees
for up to 570,000,000 new shares of the Company at a price of
HK$0.148 per placing share. The placing was completed on 20
October 2015 and none of the placees have become a substantial
shareholder after the completion of placing. The net proceeds from
the placing, after deducting the placing fees and other expenses
incidental to the placing, was approximately HK$83,931,000.
The aggregate nominal value of the placing shares issued is
HK$570,000.

FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

As at 31 March 2016, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$88,814,000 (2015: approximately HK$2,193,000).
The Group had the net current assets and the net assets of
approximately HK$185,954,000 (2015: HK$120,721,000) and
approximately HK$286,418,000 (2015: HK$189,067,000) respectively
as at 31 March 2016. Save as disclosed above, the Group had no
bank and other borrowing as at 31 March 2016.

The current ratio, calculated on the basis of total current assets over
total current liabilities, was approximately 78.84 (2015: 110.95) at 31
March 2016.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Details in the changes of the capital structure of the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2016 are set out in note 22 to the
consolidated financial statements. The capital of the Company

comprises only ordinary shares as at 31 March 2016.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Most of the business transactions of the Group are denominated in
Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. The management of the Group
will closely monitor the fluctuation in these currencies and take
appropriate actions when needed. As at 31 March 2016, the Group
did not engage in currency hedging nor did it adopt any formal
hedging activities. The Group had not entered into any financial
derivatives in currencies other than Hong Kong dollars during the

year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PLEDGE OF ASSETS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2016, there were no charges on the Group's assets

and the Group did not have any contingent liabilities.

STAFF COST

The Group's total staff costs (including directors’ remuneration)
amounted to approximately HK$7,408,000 (2015: HK$20,816,000).
The employees were remunerated based on their responsibilities

and performance.

PROSPECT

In mid-December 2015, the U.S. Federal Reserve (the "Fed") finally
announced to raise interest rates by 0.25% after almost ten years at
near-zero. The new technical tool the Fed has taken to adjust the
U.S. money supply generates new uncertainties for the year 2016. In
addition, the global economy was plagued by problems including
overcapacity, with lower international oil and commodity prices,
leading to more cautious market sentiment towards the global

economic prospect.

The decelerating PRC economy also added uncertainties to the
global sentiment and confidence. The decline in the PRC's GDP
growth rate, the sustained depreciation of Renminbi (the “RMB”)
and the volatile PRC stock market have unsettled investors by
creating concerns about unstable market returns. This also had a
certain impact on the development of the Hong Kong stock market,

which witnessed its most dramatic year in 2015.

2016 will be another year full of uncertainties as the global
economies continue to decline. The recovering U.S. economy,
unstable EU economy, slowing PRC economy as well as the
expected RMB depreciation could bring uncertainties to the

market.

Nonetheless, as the biggest trading partner of Hong Kong, the PRC
market still provides huge investment opportunities. The Group
believes that China will continue to implement its “One Belt, One
Road” strategy for international development and other innovative
". Therefore, in 2016, the Group

will maintain its prudent optimism to explore opportunities with

concepts such as “Internet Plus
investment value, seeking for stable development amid the volatile
market condition. Moreover, the Group will cater for the latest
market development with flexible investment strategies, striving to

bring stable investment returns to its shareholders.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PR ik i 5Ly B

PROSPECT (continued)

Looking into 2016, the Group will continue to focus on investment
in the new energy market. The Group's biomass project, situated
in the Xinjiang region, is in steady progress. Supported by the
government'’s “One Belt, One Road” policy, the project is expected
to become a key project at the regional and even national level. As
one of the earliest investors in such project, the Group will enjoy

high value-added premium and return.

At the same time, the Group believes that the web-based
commercial market will constantly alter consumer behavior and lead
industrial transformation, with the growing support and promotion
from the PRC government under the “Internet Plus” concept.
Hence, the Group intends to ride on this trend, with continued

exploration of potential web-based companies with caution.

Apart from investing in such emerging sectors as new energy and
“Internet Plus”, the Group will actively search for businesses with a
good track record and a steady cash flow in the traditional industry.
The Group will invest in such businesses at appropriate timing and
with reasonable valuation, with an aim to bring valuable investment

and sustainable returns for the shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

There was no purchase, sale or redemption of listed securities of the

Company by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Board recognises the importance of corporate governance
practice of a listed company and is committed to adopting the
standards of corporate governance. It is in the interest of the
shareholders and stakeholders for a listed company to operate in
a transparent manner with the adoptions of various self-regulatory
policies, procedures and monitoring mechanisms with a clear
definition of accountability of directors and management. The
Company and the Directors confirm, to the best of their knowledge,
that the Company has complied with the Code of Corporate
Governance practices (the "CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 March 2016, except the

deviation disclosed in the following paragraph:

Code Provision A.6.7

The code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code states that independent
non-executive directors should also attend general meetings and
develop a balanced understanding of the views of shareholders.
Three independent non-executive Directors were eligible but
unable to attend the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 28 August 2015 (the “2015 AGM") due to other important

engagement.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

The Board comprises executive Directors, non-executive Directors
and independent non-executive Directors during the year and up to

the date of this report as follows:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee
Mr. Zhang Xuming (appointed on 14 March 2016)
Non-executive Director:

Mr. Chen Yin

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Fong Wo, Felix
Mr. Leung Wing Kin
Mr. Leung Chi Kong

AR R,
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AR R,

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company and oversees the Group's businesses, investment
and strategic decisions and performance. The executive Board,
investment manager and senior management have been delegated
with the authority and responsibility by the Board for the day-to-day
operations of the Group while reserving certain key matters for the
approval by the Board. In addition, the Board has also delegated
various responsibilities to the Board committees. Further details of
these Board committees are set out in this Corporate Governance

Report.

The Board members have no financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationships with each other. Such balanced
board composition is formed to ensure strong independence
exists across the Board and has met recommended practice under
the Code for the Board to have at least one-third of its members
comprising independent non-executive Directors. The biographical
information of the existing Directors is set out on pages 32 to 35
under the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and

Senior Management”.

Chairman

The role of the chairman of the Company is to take the lead in
formulating overall strategies and policies of the Group, ensures
the effective performance by the Board of its functions, including
compliance with good corporate governance practices and
encourages and facilitates active contribution of Directors in Board
activities. The Chairman also ensures that all Directors are properly
briefed on issues arising at Board meetings and have received
adequate, complete and reliable information in a timely manner

with the assistance of the company secretary.

Executive Directors

The executive Directors are responsible for running the Group
and executing the strategies adopted by the Board. They lead the
Group's management team in accordance with the directions set
by the Board and are responsible for ensuring that proper internal
control system is in place and the Group's business conforms to

applicable laws and regulations.

22 Annual Report &% 2016

EXEQRARRENEFARR BEEAEE XK
BRENRKBIERRERB -QTEEE REKHE
SREREREEERRENERAEREAEE
ZAREG HETIRFRAUNEARESSEM I
S BEEENEZRZAEETEEZRE %FES
ZERZE—THBINALEEARS -

SHEBTECER - EFEr TERBIRRESS
BB INETHEREEERERI =N Z—
RERBUIFNTEECEZRER -REIEEEEE
HENEREIJE [EFENSREEERE] —H-

EE
ARBEFEHRRI AR E 2 BERE MK HIR
EEOEUBEHARE BERETRECEENR
R UREBEREESEB2HNESTR R -7
ERRAMEBY T THRAMEEEHEENTES
YR IREZFE BEERWIIRSH THERA
FEEH-

HITES
HOTEFREARBRBEERETEFTEMREMN
BR - WERBREZG MG T HEEAREEEK
th- WA BERRREEE ZNBEENERAEEE
BT aBRED KA -



China Investment Development Limited o 1Bl & % AR A A

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Non-executive Director and Independent non-executive
Directors

The non-executive Director and the independent non-executive
Directors serve the important function of ensuring and monitoring
the basis for an effective corporate governance framework. Their
participations provide adequate checks and balances to safeguard
the interests of the Group and its shareholders. The Board consists
of three independent non-executive Directors and each of them
has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise. All independent non-executive
Directors are financially independent from the Company. The
Company confirmed with all independent non-executive Directors
as to their independence with reference to the factors as set out in
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Board Meetings
The attendance of each Director at Board meetings during the year
ended 31 March 2016 was as follows:

AR R,

FATEERBIUFYITES

FRTEERBUIFNTERZEZRARERLK
EROEERRBIAR - KE 22 EIRMH T HHE A
REAEBIERR MG -EFSRIE=2BIH
HITER REOREAEIERERN ST EY
BEREREEXNE -2RBUIFNTEEEVR
BT RART AR RESIR AR R 53131
PIERE BREREIFNTERTZ2BE LS -

Exgel
BE_T-RF-A=Z1T—"HLFE SEFRES
EERIHFRENT

Number of
meetings
Name of Director attended/held
HE BT
BEnR = G
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee PREZESLE 1717
Mr. Zhang Xuming SRIBAASE A& 117
Non-executive Director FHITES
Mr. Chen Yin R ALEE 17/17
Independent non-executive Directors BAFHITES
Mr. Fong Wo, Felix 7Rk AE 3/17
Mr. Leung Wing Kin REREE 3/17
Mr. Leung Chi Kong ZEM KA 3/17
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

As part of an ongoing process of directors’ training, the Company
secretary continuously updates all Directors on latest developments
regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements to ensure compliance of the same by all Directors.
All Directors are encouraged to attend external forum or training
courses on relevant topics which may count towards continuous

professional development training.

Pursuant to Code A.6.5 of the "Corporate Governance Code”,
Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. For the period from 1 April 2015 to 31 March
2016, all Directors had participated in appropriate continuous
professional development activities either by attending training
courses or by reading materials relevant to the Company’s business

or to the Directors’ duties and responsibilities.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary Mr. Liu Jiazhen is a full time employee of
the Company. He fulfills the requirement under rules 3.28 and 3.29
of the Listing Rules. The company secretary reports to the Chairman
and supports the Board, ensures good information flow within the
Board and Board policy and procedures are followed, advises the
Board on governance matters, facilitates induction and, monitors
the training and continuous professional development of Directors.
He has attained not less than 15 hours of relevant professional

training during the review period.

INSURANCE
The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance, with
coverage being reviewed annually, to indemnify the directors and

officers from their risk exposure arising from corporate activities.

SUPPLY OF AND ACCESS TO INFORMATION

In respect of regular board meetings, an agenda and accompanying
board papers of the meeting are sent in full to all Directors in
advance before the intended date of a meeting. The management
has the obligation to supply the Board and the Board members with
adequate information in a timely manner to enable the members
to make informed decisions. Each Director has separate and
independent access to the Group's senior management to acquire
more information than is volunteered by management and to make

further enquiries if necessary.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises all three independent non-
executive Directors and is chaired by Mr. Leung Chi Kong. The Audit
Committee meets at least twice a year. The Audit Committee is
mainly responsible for overseeing the Company'’s financial reporting
system and internal control procedures; making recommendations
to the Board in the appointment and removal of the external
auditor and to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement
of the external auditor; and any questions of resignation or dismissal
of such auditor; and reviewing the interim and annual reports and
the financial statements of the Group. The terms of reference are

available on the Company's website.

The attendance of each member at Audit Committee meetings

during the year ended 31 March 2016 was as follows:
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EREES

EVZEEMER-BBUIFNTESFER BRE
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Number of

meetings

Name attended/held

HE BT

A = G
Independent non-executive Directors BUFHTES

Mr. Fong Wo, Felix 7 A A 2/2

Mr. Leung Wing Kin RERELE 2/2

Mr. Leung Chi Kong 25 %k & 2/2

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company's Remuneration Committee consists of all three
independent non-executive Directors and the non-executive
Director Mr. Chen Yin, and is chaired by Mr. Fong Wo, Felix, an
independent non-executive Director. The Remuneration Committee
is mainly responsible for making recommendations to the Board
on the Company's remuneration policy for Directors and senior
management, and overseeing the remuneration packages of the
executive Directors and senior management. The terms of reference

are available on the Company’s website.
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The Remuneration Committee has considered and approved
the Group's policy for the remuneration of directors and senior
management. The Remuneration Committee has assessed the
performance of the executive directors and considered the
remuneration package of executive directors by reference to the
prevailing packages with companies listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. Details of the directors’ remuneration are disclosed
on an individual basis in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements. The Group adopts a competitive remuneration package
for its employees. Promotion and salary increments are assessed

based on a performance related basis.

The attendance of each member at Remuneration Committee

meeting during the year ended 31 March 2016 was as follows:

VX B G ERLERAREEETRAREEE
FERR -FMEE S ERTERZREA LK
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BE_Z-—RF-A=+—HLFE ZFHEZES
KEHFEHFMEZREGSRCENT:

Number of

meetings

Name attended/held
HE BT

S = G
Mr. Chen Yin BRJALSEAE 2/2
Mr. Fong Wo, Felix FOMEE 2/2
Mr. Leung Wing Kin REREE 2/2
Mr. Leung Chi Kong 25 %k & 2/2

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company’s Nomination Committee consists of all three
independent non-executive Directors and the non-executive
Director Mr. Chen Yin, and is chaired by Mr. Fong Wo, Felix, an
independent non-executive Director. The primary function of
the Nomination Committee is to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board annually and make recommendations on
any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Group's
corporate strategy. The terms of reference are available on the

Company's website.
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The attendance of each member at Nomination Committee

meetings during the year ended 31 March 2016 was as follows:
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BE_Z-—RF-A=+—HLFE JZREZE®
KEHFREZEGGHCENT:

Number of

meetings

Name attended/held
HE BT

" H = G
Mr. Chen Yin PR JALEAE 2/2
Mr. Fong Wo, Felix FOMEE 2/2
Mr. Leung Wing Kin REREE 2/2
Mr. Leung Chi Kong 25 %k & 2/2

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Company'’s Risk Management Committee consists of all three
independent non-executive Directors, the executive Director
and chief executive officer Mr. Zhang Xuming and the company
secretary Mr. Liu Jiazhen, and is chaired by Mr. Leung Chi Kong, an
independent non-executive Director. The primary function of the
Risk Management Committee is to review, monitor, manage and
control the existing investments, developing and reviewing the risk
management policy and monitoring the effective running of the risk

management.

The attendance of each member at Risk Management Committee

meetings during the year ended 31 March 2016 was as follows:
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Number of
meetings
Name attended/held
HE BT
®A = G
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer #{TESRITHAR
Mr. Zhang Xuming SR MBEA S 4 11
Independent non-executive Directors BAFHTES
Mr. Fong Wo, Felix 7 Mgk AE 11
Mr. Leung Wing Kin PRI E 11
Mr. Leung Chi Kong REM L4 11
Company Secretary REWE
Mr. Liu Jiazhen BImEEL 11
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

No corporate governance committee has been established and
the Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions, which includes developing and reviewing the Company’s
policies, practices on corporate governance, training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, the Company'’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements etc. During the year under
review, the Board has reviewed the Company's policies and

practices on corporate governance.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the Group's
consolidated financial statements for each financial period
and to ensure that the consolidated financial statements are in
accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. The Board also ensures the timely publication of the
consolidated financial statements. The Directors, having made
appropriate enquiries, confirm that they are not aware of any
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern. The statements of the auditor of the Group regarding their
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set out in
the Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages 36 to 37 of this annual

report.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibilities for maintaining sound and
effective internal control system of the Group. The Board has
delegated to the management the implementation of such systems
of internal controls as well as the review of relevant financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management
procedures. The Audit Committee composites member of the
management was established for conducting a review of the
internal control of the Group which cover the material controls
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions. Procedures have been set up, inter alia,
for safeguarding assets against unauthorised use or disposition,
controlling over capital expenditure, maintaining proper accounting
records and ensuring the reliability of financial information used for
business and publication. The management throughout the Group
maintains and monitors the internal control system on an ongoing

basis.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year, the remuneration paid and payable to the
Company's auditor, BDO Limited for audit service of year ended 31
March 2016 is HK$425,000 (2015: HK$370,000) and there is no non-
audit service provided during the year ended 31 March 2016 (2015:
HK$8,000).

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the directors. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, the Company confirmed that all the
Directors have complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code throughout the year.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT

Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for
election as a director

Subject to the Bye-laws and applicable laws, rules and regulations,
the Company may in a general meeting by ordinary resolution elect
any person to be a director of the Company either to fill a casual

vacancy on the Board, or as an addition to the existing Board.

A shareholder who is entitled to attend and vote at the meeting
may propose a person (the “"Candidate”) other than a director
of the Company for election as a director at a general meeting
by lodging the following documents at the Company's principal
place of business in Hong Kong (Suites 2706-2707, 27/F., Dah Sing
Financial Centre, 108 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong) for

the attention of the company secretary:

1. A written notice signed by the shareholder concerned which
is given of his/her intention to propose the Candidate for

election;

2. A written notice signed by the Candidate indicating his/her
willingness to be elected, together with the Candidate’s
biographical details as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing

Rules; and

3. The Candidate’s written consent to the publication of his/her

personal data.
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The period for lodgment of the above documents shall have
given to the company secretary of the Company during a period
commencing no earlier than the day after the despatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and

ending no later than 7 days prior to the date of such meeting.

Procedures for shareholders to convene a special general
meeting

Special general meetings shall be convened on the written
requisition of any two or more registered members of the Company
deposited at the registered office in Bermuda specifying the objects
of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided that such
requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which
carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company.
General meetings may also be convened on the written requisition
of any one member of the Company which is a recognised clearing
house (or its nominee) deposited at the principal office of the
Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to
have such a principal office, the registered office specifying the
objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionist, provided
that such requisitionist held as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company. If the Board does not within 21 days from the date
of deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting,
the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them representing more
than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may convene
the general meeting in the same manner as nearly as possible, as
that in which meetings may be convened by the Board provided
that any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration
of three months from the date of deposit of the requisition, and
all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result
of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the
Company.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The annual general meeting provides a useful forum for
shareholders to exchange views with the Board. The chairman of
the Company as well as the chairman and members of various
Board committees are pleased to answer shareholders’ questions.
Separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings on each
substantially separate issue, including the election of individual
directors. Details of poll voting procedures and the rights of
shareholders to demand a poll are included in the circular to
shareholders despatched together with the annual report. The
circular also includes relevant details of proposed resolutions,
including biographies of each candidates standing for re-election.
The results of the poll are published on the Company's website
(http://www.cidl.com.hk), and on the website of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited, (http://www.hkex.com.hk).

INVESTOR RELATIONS

During the year under review, the Group has proactively
enhanced its corporate transparency and communications with
its shareholders and the investment community through the
announcement of its mandatory interim and final reports. Through
the timely distribution of other announcements, the Group has also

kept the public abreast of its latest developments.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Chan Cheong Yee, aged 52, has been appointed as an
executive Director since May 2012. Mr. Chan holds a Bachelor of
Science degree from the College of Business Administration of
The University of South Florida in the United States of America.
Mr. Chan is currently a licensed person to carry out type 1 (dealing
in securities), type 2 (dealing in futures contracts), type 3 (leveraged
foreign exchange trading) and type 9 (asset management) regulated
activities under the Securities and Future Ordinance (Chapter 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong). He is experienced in dealing in securities,
fund management, corporate management, corporate finance and
managing listed investment companies under Chapter 21 of the

Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange.

In June 2003, Mr. Chan joined China Innovation Investment Limited
(stock code: 1217) (“CIl"), an investment company listed on the
Stock Exchange, as an executive director. He was appointed as
an independent non-executive director of Bingo Group Holdings
Limited (stock code: 8220), a company listed on the Growth
Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange, in August 2007, and was
redesignated as an executive director of Bingo Group Holdings
Limited in April 2009. Mr. Chan was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of Agritrade Resources Limited (stock code:
1131) in June 2010, an executive director of China Investment and
Finance Group Limited (stock code: 1226) (“CIFG") in March 2011,
an executive director of Capital VC Limited (stock code: 2324)
("CVC") in November 2012, an executive director of China New
Economy Fund Limited (stock code: 80) (“CNEF") in June 2013 and
an executive director of China Trends Holdings Limited (stock code:
8171) (“CTH") in February 2016. All of Cll, CIFG, CVC, CNEF and

CTH are investment companies listed on the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Zhang Xuming, aged 46, was appointed as the chief executive
officer of the Company in March 2013 and was appointed as an
executive Director in March 2016.
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Mr. Zhang is responsible for the overall management of the
Group. He has held various senior positions in several well known
trust investment companies and land and property development
companies in the PRC. Mr. Zhang is well versed in supervising

project investment, sales and marketing and overseas businesses

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Chen Yin, aged 43, has been appointed as a non-executive
Director and the Chairman of the Board of the Company since
October 2013. Mr. Chen received his bachelor’s degree in electronic
engineering from Tianjin Institute of Technology (currently known as
Tianjin University of Technology in The People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC") in 1994. Mr. Chen held various positions in financial

institutions including Tianjin Trust Investment Company (currently
known as Tianjin Trust Co., Ltd.), Bohai Securities Co., Ltd, Xiamen
Securities Co., Ltd., and several fund management companies in
the PRC. Mr. Chen has over 22 years of extensive experience in
investment management, corporate finance, securities dealing and

private equity business areas.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Fong Wo, Felix, B8S, JP, aged 65, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director since 2011. Mr. Fong was the
founding partner of Arculli Fong & Ng (now renamed as King &
Wood Mallesons) and is a consultant of King & Wood Mallesons.
Mr. Fong received his engineering degree in Canada in 1974 and his
Juris Doctor degree from Osgoode Hall Law School in Toronto in
1978.

Mr. Fong is a member of the law societies of Hong Kong and
England, and had been honorary legal counsel of a number
of non-profit organisations in Hong Kong such as The Chinese

Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong.
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Mr. Fong is currently one of the China-appointed Attesting Officers
in Hong Kong appointed by the Ministry of Justice of China. Mr.
Fong undertook a number of community and social roles, such
as the former Chairman of the Chinese Canadian Association of
Hong Kong, the Chairman of the Advisory Council on Food and
Environmental Hygiene and a member of the Hong Kong Film
Development Council. He is also a director of the Hong Kong
Basic Law Institute Limited, a member of Guangdong Provincial
Committee of Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
and a director of China Overseas Friendship Association. In the area
of education, Mr. Fong is a founding member and the first director
of the Canadian International School of Hong Kong, and an advisor

to the Faculty of Business of University of Victoria in Canada.

Currently, Mr. Fong is an independent non-executive director of a
number of listed companies, namely Kingway Brewery Holdings
Limited, SPG Land (Holdings) Limited, Evergeen International
Holdings Limited, Sheen Tai Holdings Group Company Limited and
Xinming China Holdings Limited, whose stocks are listed on the
Stock Exchange, and effective from June 2016, Mr. Fong ceased
to act as independent non-executive director of China Oilfield
Services Limited having served a full term of six years under China
CSRC requirements. Mr. Fong is a Justice of the Peace and was
awarded a Bronze Bauhinia Star by the Government of Hong Kong

in recognition of his public service.

Mr. Leung Wing Kin, aged 58, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director since June 2012. Mr. Leung has
over 20 years of management experience in the leisure and tourism
business. He is the vice chief of the Audit Committee of Project
Ganquan of the Chinese Association of Poverty Alleviation and
Development managed by The State Council Leading Group Office

of Poverty Alleviation and Development.
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Mr. Leung Chi Kong, aged 46, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director since February 2014. Mr.
Leung was awarded the degrees of Bachelor of Arts in Economic
and Social Studies in 1994 and Master of Business Administration
(with Merit) in 2007 respectively. He is holding the professional
designations of Certified Public Accountant, Chartered Global
Management Accountant and Chartered Financial Analyst. Mr.
Leung has been engaged in the securities and finance industry for
more than 16 years. He is currently a director of compliance and
risk management of a multi-national securities group and he is
fully in charge of supervising the compliance and risk management
functions. Prior to this post, he was a responsible officer for the
regulated activities of dealing in securities, advising on securities
and corporate finance of a Japanese listed securities organization
in Hong Kong for more than 5 years. He was an independent non-
executive director of Sage International Group Limited (stock code:
8082) during the period from 27 July 2001 to 31 August 2011, which
is listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Liu Jiazhen, aged 29, has been appointed as the company
secretary and one of the authorised representatives of the Company
with effect from 25 April 2014. Mr. Liu is also the financial controller
of the Company. Mr. Liu is also a member of the Hong Kong

Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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TEE 1 +852 2218 8288
{5H : +852 2815 2239

Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

25t Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central

Hong Kong
HEETHEPI115E
K258

www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA INVESTMENT
DEVELOPMENT LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with
limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Investment Development Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 38 to 115,
which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position
as at 31 March 2016, and consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting

policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal controls as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due

to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. This report is made solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with agreed terms of engagement,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards

or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are

free from material misstatement.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’'s preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the

consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2016 and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in compliance with the

disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants
Chan Wing Fai

Practising Certificate no. 05443

Hong Kong, 30 June 2016

¥ 1A B i A o

ERERATEFURGERGAMBRRAEDHE
REBREREMIEZER BRZZERFART
REE 2 A BEF ARV BRRFEERER
Bt (T im 2B EAFE ARSI ) 2 Rk - FE1F
ZERBAEE  ZBEERENRREAEEQTF
HIRBRARMN 2 45 B I TS AR A B 2 MARER 1 LAEE
BRMm&FHEE 2 EZEF BYFR/E AR AEE
EZMEBRKRBER -BRNBENEEETARAZE
AAERRRLEE NS EEEE AR A RaTE
RAMBRR CERBEITA -

EERE BEEMRB 2 ERERCREEZERE
REEHRFEDIRE 2 & -

=R

BERE BAMBRRCRETEM RS LA
ERATRR EEEN-F—AF=A=+—RZ
MBRRAR EREHEZE LFEIHHRAR

Beng WTERREBARGI ZREREMEZE

ERVCEERSHMERMERAR
RS AD

B oK 18

HEH B 9R1505443

R ZT-RFRA

+H

37

Annual Report %3 2016



China Investment Development Limited o A B & FHEAR A F

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
ok 1 E 2 B Bl 2 i M 2 o

For the year ended 31 March 2016 #E T — < H=A=+—HILFE

2016 2015
—E-XEF —E—hF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Mo TR FA&T
Revenue g 7 602 227
Other income LN 7 278 404
Change in fair value of financial assets BRATFEAEERERE
at fair value through profit or loss LB EENTEEZS 11,687 1,222
Net realised loss on disposals of financial PERATFERFAL
assets at fair value through profit or loss BaREZMBEEZ
B IR EEFRE (455) (3,909)
Administrative and other expenses TR R B bR =2 (36,086) (86,778)
Finance costs BhE KA 8 - 43)
Share of result of an associate DIE—FRKEENR ZEE 17 - (8)
Loss before income tax expense BrATS R S AT ES 1A 10 (23,974) (88,885)
Income tax expense FrEHiF= 9 - -
Loss for the year attributable to owners 2NN 2PN X (=]
of the Company KEFEIE (23,974) (88,885)
Other comprehensive income H 2 s
ltems that may be reclassified subsequently HEEZAJREEFHEE
to profit or loss: BmoIEE -
Change in fair value of AHEMBEEZ
available-for-sale financial assets N EEE) 28,918 9,149
Reclassification of investment revaluation BREAHEMGEE
reserve upon impairment of ERRERIEE
available-for-sale financial assets BEHEEZET 2,383 -
Exchange difference arising from REE—REpE QA
an associate during the year EECZEHZE (210) (78)
Other comprehensive income for the year, AREEEMEERE
net of tax HERTiIE 31,091 9,071
Total comprehensive income for the year AKEE2EW AR 7,117 (79,814)
Loss per share BRER 13
— Basic (HK cents per share) —EAR (FREN) 0.278 1.088
- Diluted (HK cents per share) —#E (JRBI) 0.278 1.088
Proceeds from disposals of HERATEFAE
financial assets at fair value BERRECHBEEEZ
through profit or loss FrigRIE 40,522 241,340
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
RS R BINY S

As at 31 March 2016 R=Z—~&E=A=+—H

2016 2015
—EB-AF —
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Mo FET FA&T
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERARE
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Mz WE N 15 1,115 721
Interest in an associate R—KEE AR 2 Em 17 5,874 6,084
Available-for-sale financial assets AIHERBEE 18 93,475 61,541
100,464 68,346
Current assets REEE
Financial assets at fair value AV EFAEER
through profit or loss BRI EE 19 38,235 29,130
Other receivables, deposits and Hin el sIB  Re R
prepayments TENT /I8 20 61,294 90,496
Bank and cash balances RIEBEERF 21 88,814 2,193
188,343 121,819
Current liabilities REBAE
Other payables and accrued charges H fth JEAT FRIB SR et B A 2,389 1,098
Net current assets RBEERE 185,954 120,721
Net assets BEEFE 286,418 189,067
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Ao 5K DLk

As at 31 March 2016 R=Z—~&=A=+—H

2016 2015
—EB-AF —
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Mo TR FA&T
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners KAREA AELES
of the Company
Share capital [N 22 8,937 8,343
Reserves & 277,481 180,724
Total equity T AERR 286,418 189,067
Net asset value per share BREEFE 25 HK$0.032% Tt  HK$0.0237E 7T
On behalf of the board of directors REESEZ

Chen Yin
BRJA

Director

EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
AT HEAR S B

For the year ended 31 March 2016 #E_F— < F=A=+—HAILFE

Investment Share

Share Share revaluation option  Exchange Accumulated

capital  premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
REEM] BRE

BE  RORE i ®E EXRE ZRHER @t
HK$'000 ~ HK$000  HK$000  HK$O00  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000
TET TET FEL FEL FET FEL FHEL

At 1 April 2014 R-Z-MEMA—H 7,725 207,212 (1,490) 54,783 125 (126,526) 141,829
Loss for the year AEEEE - - - - - (88,885) (88,885)
Other comprehensive income HEi2E R
Change in fair value of available-for-sale AT EHHEAE Y

financial assets NTEEED - - 9,149 - - - 9,149
Exchange difference arising from KEE-FHMERAEEL

an associate during the year (Note 17)  [E 5 Z 5 (FfI517) - - - - (78) - (78)

- . 9,149 . 79 - 9,071

Total comprehensive income AEE2ANEEE

for the year - - 9,149 - (78) (88,885) (79,814)
Issue of shares BRI 220 31,680 - - - - 31,900
Shares issued in acquisition of Wi R B R ETR R

investment 78 13,795 - - - - 13,873
Shares issued under share option BEBREEIBTRN

scheme 320 12,594 - (3,964) - - 8,950
Recognition of share options R RE - - - 72,592 - - 72,592
Share issue expenses BRIABITRX - (263) - - - - (263)

At 31 March 2015 and 1 April 2015 R-Z-EF=A=+-HK
—Z-1ENB-H 8,343 265,018 7,659 123,411 47 (215,411) 189,067
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
AR S W

For the year ended 31 March 2016 #E T —<H=A=+—HILFE

Investment Share

Share Share revaluation option  Exchange Accumulated

capital  premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
REEM BRE

Bkx  RHEE e ®E  EXRE ZHER @t
HK$'000 ~ HK$'000  HK$O00  HK$O00  HK$000  HK§000  HK$'000
FEL FEL FET FET FEL FET FET

At 31 March 2015 and 1 April 2015 R-FE-HEE=A=+-HR

—E-AfMA-A 8,343 265,018 7,659 123,411 47  (215,411) 189,067

Loss for the year AEEEE - - - = = (23,974)  (23,974)
Other comprehensive income B2
Change in fair value of available-for-sale AT EBHEEY

financial assets NEEEE - - 28,918 - - = 28,918
Reclassification of investment BHALEHBEEES

revaluation reserve upon RMERRESHREE

impairment of available-for-sale Exipa |

financial assets = = 2,383 = = = 2,383
Exchange difference arising from REE-RBERAELL

an associate during the year (Note 17) [ 5 Z % (Fi517) - - - - (210) - (210)

- - 31301 - (210) - 31,091

Total comprehensive income AERE2AMHER

for the year - - 31,301 - (210) (23,974) 7117
Issue of shares R 570 83,790 - - - - 84,360
Shares issued in acquisition of Wik B R ETR R

investment 24 6,279 - - - - 6,303
Share issue expenses BRID BT = (429) = = = = (429)
At 31 March 2016 R-E-RE=A=+-A 8,937 354,658 38,960 123,411 (163) (239,385) 286,418
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
A BAeRER

For the year ended 31 March 2016 #E_F— < F=A=+—HAILFE

2016 2015
—E-NEF ZE-RHF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FHET FET
Cash flows from operating activities REREXEBZHERE
Loss before income tax expense FREF1S T F 2 A ET1E (23,974) (88,885)
Adjustments for: B THEBEELFE:
Depreciation e 15 295 270
Equity-settled share-based payment %5 A5 B DARR 19 1 3K 10 - 72,592
Net realised loss on disposals of fair HERATFEF AL
value of financial assets at fair value BREEUBEE
through profit or loss NFEZEEH
BRFH (455) 3,909
Interest income A EHBA 7 (602) (227)
Bank interest income RITHRI S A 7 (197) (338)
Interest expense FMERX - 43
Change in fair value of financial assets at BAVEFALEER
fair value through profit or loss BRI EE
NEEEE) (11,687) (1,222)
Impairment loss on available-for-sale AHENBEE
financial assets PEREYE 17,670 -
Share of result of an associate DIE—KEBERFZ
E 17 - 8
Operating loss before working BMEESEBAI2
capital changes REER (18,040) (13,850)
Purchase of financial assets at fair value BERATERAL
through profit or loss BRRBrMGEE (38,395) (245,362)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets as &% A FEF AL
fair value through profit or loss BRnRlEsMBEEEL
PIEEE/N 40,522 241,340
Decrease/(increase) in other receivables, Hih e - me &k
deposits and prepayments TR RIER L, (E) 29,804 (67,699)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and BB NREFER
accrued charges Zm/ Od) 1,291 (491)
Cash used in operations KREFRERS 15,182 (86,062)
Interest received =S 197 338
Interest paid EARALE = 43)
Net cash generated from/(used in) REEKFRE, (FiiE)
operating activities RHEFE 15,379 (85,767)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

MAaB SR ER

For the year ended 31 March 2016 #==Z%—

NEZA=T—HILEFE

2016 2015
—EB-AF —h%F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FHET FHET
Cash flows from investing activities RERETHZHERE
Purchases of available-for-sale BEAHEVBEE
financial assets (12,000) (23,619)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment &Y% - KFE k& # 15 (689) (483)
Net cash used in investing activities RETETAERS T (12,689) (24,102)
Cash flows from financing activities REMETHZRERE
Proceeds from issuing of shares BITRD TS RIE 84,360 31,900
Proceeds from share issued under RIR SRR AT B BT IR
share option scheme Fri5 318 - 8,950
Share issuing expenses paid ERRHETHXZ (429) (263)
Repayment to directors MEFER - (1,608)
Net cash generated from financing METBHAEREFHE
activities 83,931 38,979
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and HeRBESSEYEM
cash equivalents (RA)#EE 86,621 (70,890)
Cash and cash equivalents FRERBREEEY
at beginning of year 2,193 73,083
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year ERBERBESEEY 88,814 2,193
Bank and cash balances RITRBEER 38,726 2,193
Fixed deposits TE BRI IR 50,088 -
Bank and cash balances RITEREEF 88,814 2,193
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Aok o TV 05 % B ik

For the year ended 31 March 2016 #E_ZF— < F=A=+—HAILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Investment Development Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability on 25 March 1998 and was de-registered
on 11 March 2011 and was registered by way of continuation
as an exempted company in Bermuda on 2 March 2011. The
Company's shares have been listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) with effect
from 12 December 2000. Its registered office is located at
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda
and its principal office in Hong Kong is located at Suites 2706-
2707, 27/F., Dah Sing Financial Centre, 108 Gloucester Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company is principally engaged in investment holding
for medium to long-term capital appreciation purposes, and
investment in listed and unlisted securities. The principal
activities of the Company's subsidiaries are set out in note 16

to the consolidated financial statements.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(a) Adoption of new/revised to HKFRSs - first
effective on 1 April 2015
HKFRSs (Amendments)  Annual Improvements 2010-2012
Cycle
HKFRSs (Amendments)  Annual Improvements 2011-2013
Cycle
Amendments to Defined Benefit Plans: Employee

HKAS 19 (2011) Contributions

The adoption of these amendments has no material

impact on the Group's financial statements.

1. —RER

PEREEEREER AR ([ARF])AEBR
— N N\E=ZA=-+hBERSHSTMKT
ZERRBRAR RER T —F=A+—
BT BN ——F = A - ANETF
ZHEARBRETMAER R - ARFIR
MHZEEEF+ AT ZABREETBHAER
SARRAT ([B22FT]) £ e AR T 2
#H = BRU H Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM11, Bermuda® M E BB @ =R
MR EBEF S TITE1085 AT S B 02718
2706-2707 = °

ARRZEBEBNRARENESHHER
HEARRE UWRRER EHMIELEMRES-
ARRPETHBARZ T EEBHNEAMG
HARMIFL16 0

2. RAHEEBUBHREED ([FBUBR
HER )
(@) BRAVHR] RIETEBIBREE
Bl-R-ZB-—AFWA-HEREXN

EEUKRE —2-TFE-T-—FRY
8 (153T) ZEENSE

EERBRE —E-—FE-F--E@HE
%8 (153]) ZEEWH

BEGEN REREMFEEEHRR
£195%
(Z2——%)
ZIERT

RALSETHAREEPBRRGESE

=414
4 =1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
s 1 B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2016 #E T —<H=A=+—HILFE

2.

46

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(continued))
(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective
The following new/revised HKFRSs, potentially relevant
to the Group's financial statements, have been issued,
but are not yet effective and have not been early
adopted by the Group.

Amendments to Disclosure Initiative'
HKAS 1
HKFRSs (Amendments)  Annual Improvements 2012-2014
Cycle'
HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments?
Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets
HKFRS 10 and between an Investor and
HKAS 28 its Associate or Joint Venture'
Amendments to Equity Method in Separate
HKAS 27 Financial Statements'
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers?
HKFRS 16 Leases®

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2016
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2019

Amendments to HKAS 1

The amendments are designed to encourage entities
to use judgement in the application of HKAS 1 when
considering the layout and content of their financial
statements.

An entity’s share of other comprehensive income from
equity accounted interests in associates and joint
ventures will be split between those items that will and
will not be reclassified to profit or loss, and presented in

aggregate as a single line item within those two groups.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2016 #E_F— < F=A=+—HAILFE

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(continued))

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective (continued)
HKFRS 9 (2014) - Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial assets.
Debt instruments that are held within a business model
whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows (the business model test) and
that have contractual terms that give rise to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding (the contractual cash flow
characteristics test) are generally measured at amortised
cost. Debt instruments that meet the contractual cash
flow characteristics test are measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI") if
the objective of the entity’s business model is both to
hold and collect the contractual cash flows and to sell
the financial assets. Entities may make an irrevocable
election at initial recognition to measure equity
instruments that are not held for trading at FVTOCI. All
other debt and equity instruments are measured at fair
value through profit or loss ("FVTPL").

HKFRS 9 includes a new expected loss impairment
model for all financial assets not measured at FVTPL
replacing the incurred loss model in HKAS 39 and new
general hedge accounting requirements to allow entities
to better reflect their risk management activities in

financial statements.

HKFRS 9 carries forward the recognition, classification
and measurement requirements for financial liabilities
from HKAS 39, except for financial liabilities designated
at FVTPL, where the amount of change in fair value
attributable to change in credit risk of the liability is
recognised in other comprehensive income unless that
would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch. In
addition, HKFRS 9 retains the requirements in HKAS
39 for derecognition of financial assets and financial
liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2016 #E T —<H=A=+—HILFE

2.

48

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

(continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective (continued)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 - Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture
The amendments clarify the extent of gains or losses to
be recognised when an entity sells or contributes assets
to its associate or joint venture. When the transaction
involves a business the gain or loss is recognised in full,
conversely when the transaction involves assets that do
not constitute a business the gain or loss is recognised
only to the extent of the unrelated investors' interests in

the joint venture or associate.

Amendments to HKAS 27 - Equity Method in
Separate Financial Statements

The amendments allow an entity to apply the equity
method in accounting for its investments in subsidiaries,
joint ventures and associates in its separate financial

statements.
HKFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The new standard establishes a single revenue
recognition framework. The core principle of the
framework is that an entity should recognise revenue
to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods and services. HKFRS 15 supersedes
existing revenue recognition guidance including
HKAS 18 “Revenue”, HKAS 11 “Construction Contracts”
and related interpretations.
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For the year ended 31 March 2016 #E_F— < F=A=+—HAILFE

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but

(c)

are not yet effective (continued)

HKFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(continued))

HKFRS 15 requires the application of a 5-step approach

to revenue recognition:

e Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

e Step2: Identify the performance obligations in
the contract

e Step 3: Determine the transaction price

e Step4: Allocate the transaction price to each
performance obligation

e Step 5 Recognise revenue when each performance

obligation is satisfied

HKFRS 15 includes specific guidance on particular
revenue related topics that may change the current
approach taken under HKFRSs. The standard also
significantly enhances the qualitative and quantitative

disclosures related to revenue.

The directors are currently assessing the potential

impact of these pronouncements.

New Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
provisions relating to the preparation of
financial statements

The Company has adopted the amendments to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (“Listing Rules”) issued by Stock Exchange
relating to the disclosure of financial information with
reference to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622) during the year. The main impact to the
financial statements is on the presentation and
disclosure of certain information in the financial

statements.

2. HMEEUMBRERED ([FEUMBER
HER) ()

(b)

(c)

EREME N RERZHETRETE
BYBREER (&)
ERUBRELENEISK-KBEEFZ
BHWE (&)

BV REERNFIS5EREARE L
B e

e F—F: BAETFIEH

o E-X: BAANTZENERME

e FE=H EEXHE

e ENH: BRXHZEIEESEOE
£

o FR¥: REBHNELZHKEER
Wz

BEBRELRFE ISR S EHEEW
SRR BB ZFIEIINEE
BIRBEEEMEREEAREEA 2T
V% o AR IR E R B e AR R 2 B b
HE (R -

EERLFERERECBETE-

BEERVBHREANHNEE QAR
P&

RAFEE RRFRICHRABIA2ERE
RREED] (5B622F ) Sh1% Fa I 765 B F H1E
RFrESF ETMHAR ([ EmRA) g
ZAER] - B TSR < T ERBHENES
BHRANETENZ 20 MEE-

Annual Report %3 2016 49



China Investment Development Limited o A B & FHEAR A F

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
s 1 B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2016 #E T — < H=A=+—HILFE

3.

50

BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a) Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations and the disclosure requirements of
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable

disclosures required by the Listing Rules.

(b) Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost basis except for
available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss, which are measured at
fair values as explained in the accounting policies set

out in note 4 below.

(c) Functional and presentation currency
The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars ("HK$"). Each entity in the Group
maintains its books and record in its own functional

currency. The functional currency of the Company is
HK$.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

(a) Business combination and basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”). Inter-company transactions
and balances between group companies together with
unrealised profits are eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of impairment on the asset transferred, in which case the

loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2016 #E_ZF— < F=A=+—HAILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(a)

Business combination and basis of consolidation
(continued|)

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income from the dates of
acquisition or up to the effective dates of disposal, as
appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments are made
to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with those used by other

members of the Group.

Acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is accounted for
using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition
is measured at the aggregate of the acquisition-date fair
value of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and equity
interests issued by the Group, as the acquirer. The
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are
principally measured at acquisition-date fair value. The
Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree
is re-measured at acquisition-date fair value and the
resulting gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss.
The Group may elect, on a transaction-by-transaction
basis, to measure the non-controlling interests that
represent present ownership interests in the subsidiary
either at fair value or at the proportionate share of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value unless
another measurement basis is required by HKFRSs.
Acquisition-related costs incurred are expensed unless
they are incurred in issuing equity instruments in which

case the costs are deducted from equity.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by
the acquirer is recognised at acquisition-date fair
value. Subsequent adjustments to consideration are
recognised against goodwill only to the extent that
they arise from new information obtained within the
measurement period (a maximum of 12 months from the
acquisition date) about the fair value at the acquisition
date. All other subsequent adjustments to contingent
consideration classified as an asset or a liability are

recognised in profit or loss.
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4.

52

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(a)

Business combination and basis of consolidation
(continued)

Contingent consideration balances arising from business
combinations whose acquisition dates preceded
1 January 2010 (i.e. the date the Group first applied
HKFRS 3 (2008)) have been accounted for in accordance
with the transition requirements in the standard. Such
balances are not adjusted upon first application of the
standard. Subsequent revisions to estimates of such
consideration are treated as adjustments to the cost of
these business combinations and are recognised as part

of goodwill.

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for
as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
Group's interest and the non-controlling interest are
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests
in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount
by which the non-controlling interest is adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of
the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (i) the previous carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the
subsidiary and any non-controlling interest. Amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to the subsidiary are accounted for in the same
manner as would be required if the relevant assets or

liabilities were disposed of.
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For the year ended 31 March 2016 #E_F— < F=A=+—HAILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Business combination and basis of consolidation
(continued)

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-
controlling interests that represent present ownership
interests in the subsidiary is the amount of those
interests at initial recognition plus such non-controlling
interest’s share of subsequent changes in equity. Total
comprehensive income is attributed to such non-
controlling interests even if this results in those non-

controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company
is able to exercise control. The Company controls
an investee if all three of the following elements are
present: (1) power over the investee, (2) exposure, or
rights, to variable returns from the investee, and (3) the
ability to use its power to affect those variable returns.
Control is reassessed whenever facts and circumstances
indicate that there may be a change in any of these

elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend

received and receivable.

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary
nor a joint venture. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but not control or joint control

over those policies.

Associates are accounted for using the equity method
whereby they are initially recognised at cost and
thereafter, their carrying amount are adjusted for the
Group's share of the post-acquisition change in the
associates’ net assets except that losses in excess of
the Group's interest in the associate are not recognised

unless there is an obligation to make good those losses.
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NEZAZT—HULEFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(c)

(d)

Associates (continued)

Profits and losses arising on transactions between the
Group and its associates are recognised only to the
extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate.
The investor's share in the associate’s profits and losses
resulting from these transactions is eliminated against the
carrying value of the associate. Where unrealised losses
provide evidence of impairment of the asset transferred

they are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Any premium paid for an associate above the fair value
of the Group's share of the identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities acquired is capitalised and
included in the carrying amount of the associate and the
entire carrying amount of the investment is subject to
impairment test, by comparing the carrying amount with
its recoverable amount, which is higher of value in use

and fair value less costs to sell.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in associates are carried at cost less
impairment losses, if any. The results of associates are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends

received and receivable during the year.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment

losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its
purchase price and the costs directly attributable to the

acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss during the

financial period in which they are incurred.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(d)

(e)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as to
write off their cost net of expected residual value over
their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The
useful lives, residual value and depreciation method
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period. The useful lives are as follows:
Leasehold improvement Over the shorter of the

lease term or 4 years

Furniture and fixture 5 years
Office equipment 5 years
Computer equipment 5 years
Motor vehicle 5 years

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if its carrying amount is higher than the asset’s

estimated recoverable amount.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant
and equipment is the difference between the net sale
proceeds and its carrying amount, and is recognised in

profit or loss on disposal.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to lessee. All other leases are

classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

The total rentals payable under the operating leases are
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the term of the relevant lease. Lease incentives received
are recognised as an integrated part of the total rental

expenses over the terms of the lease.
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4.

56

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Financial instruments

(i)

Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets at initial
recognition, depending on the purpose for
which the asset was acquired. Financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are initially
measured at fair value and all other financial
assets are initially measured at fair value plus
transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition of the financial assets. Regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. A regular way purchase or sale is a purchase
or sale of a financial asset under a contract whose
terms require delivery of the asset within the
time frame established generally by regulation or

convention in the marketplace concerned.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

These assets include financial assets held for
trading and financial assets designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial assets are classified as held for trading
if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in
the near term. Derivatives, including separated
embedded derivatives, are also classified as held
for trading unless they are designated as effective
hedging instruments or financial guarantee

contracts.

Where a contract contains one or more embedded
derivatives, the entire hybrid contract may be
designated as a financial asset at fair value through
profit or loss, except where the embedded
derivative does not significantly modify the
cash flows or it is clear that separation of the
embedded derivative is prohibited.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(f)  Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(continued)

Financial assets may be designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or
loss if the following criteria are met: (i) the
designation eliminates or significantly reduces
the inconsistent treatment that would otherwise
arise from measuring the assets or recognising
gains or losses on them on a different basis; (ii)
the assets are part of a group of financial assets
which is managed and its performance evaluated
on a fair value basis according to a documented
management strategy; or (iii) the financial asset
contains an embedded derivative that would need

to be separately recorded.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are measured at
fair value, with changes in fair value recognised in

profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Loans and receivables

These assets are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. They incorporate other
types of contractual monetary asset. Subsequent
to initial recognition, they are carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less any

identified impairment losses.

Available-for-sale financial assets

These assets are non-derivative financial assets
that are designated as available-for-sale or are
not included in other categories of financial
assets. Subsequent to initial recognition, these
assets are carried at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in other comprehensive
income, except for impairment losses and
foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary

instruments, which are recognised in profit or loss.
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4.

58

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group assesses, at the end of each reporting
period, whether there is any objective evidence
that financial asset is impaired. Financial asset
is impaired if there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events
that has occurred after the initial recognition
of the asset and that event has an impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of

impairment may include:
o significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

. a breach of contract, such as a default
or delinquency in interest or principal

payments;

o granting concession to a debtor because of

debtor’s financial difficulty;

° a significant or prolonged decline in the fair
value of an investment in equity investment

below its cost; and

o it becoming probable that the debtor
will enter bankruptcy or other financial

reorganisation.

For Loans and receivables

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
when there is objective evidence that the asset
is impaired, and is measured as the difference
between the asset's carrying amount and the
present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the original effective interest rate.
The carrying amount of financial asset is reduced
through the use of an allowance account. When
any part of financial asset is determined as
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance

account for the relevant financial asset.
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For the year ended 31 March 2016 #E_ZF— < F=A=+—HAILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(f)  Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)
For Available-for-sale financial assets

Where a decline in the fair value constitutes
objective evidence of impairment, the amount of
the loss is removed from equity and recognised in

profit or loss.

Any impairment losses on available-for-sale
debt investments are subsequently reversed in
profit or loss if an increase in the fair value of the
investment can be objectively related to an event
occurring after the recognition of the impairment

loss.

For available-for-sale equity investment, any
increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment

loss is recognised in other comprehensive income.

For available-for-sale equity investment that is
carried at cost, the amount of impairment loss is
measured as the difference between the carrying
amount of the asset and the present value of
estimated future cash flows discounted at the
current market rate of return for a similar financial

asset. Such impairment loss is not reversed.
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NEZAZT—HULEFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Financial instruments (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities,
depending on the purpose for which the liabilities
were incurred. Financial liabilities at amortisation
costs are initially measured at fair value, net of

directly attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including
other payables and accrued charges are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method. The related interest

expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as

through the amortisation process.

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds issued by the Company
that contain both the liability and conversion
option components are classified separately into
respective items on initial recognition. Conversion
option that will be settled by the exchange of a
fixed amount of cash or another financial asset
for a fixed number of the Company's own equity

instruments is classified as an equity instrument.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability
component is determined using the prevailing
market interest rate of similar non-convertible
debts. The difference between the gross proceeds
of the issue of the convertible bonds and the
fair value assigned to the liability component,
representing the conversion option for the holder
to convert the bonds into equity, is included in

convertible bonds equity reserve.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(f)  Financial instruments (continued)

(iv)

(v)

Convertible bonds (continued)

In subsequent periods, the liability component
of convertible bonds is carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. The
conversion option classified as equity will remain
in the convertible bonds equity reserve until the
conversion option is exercised, in which case, the
balance stated in the convertible bonds equity
reserve will be transferred to share premium.
Where the conversion option remains unexercised
at the maturity date, the balance stated in
the convertible bonds equity reserve will be
released to accumulated losses. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or

expiration of the conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible bonds are allocated to the liability and
conversion option components in proportion to
the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction
costs relating to the conversion option component
are recognised directly in equity. Transaction costs
relating to the liability component are included
in the carrying amount of the liability component
and are amortised over the lives of the convertible

bonds using the effective interest method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest
income or interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
or payments through the expected life of the
financial asset or liability, or where appropriate, a

shorter period.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

(f)

(vi)

(vii)

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct

issue costs.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when
the contractual rights to the future cash flows
in relation to the financial asset expire or when
the financial asset has been transferred and the
transfer meets the criteria for derecognition in
accordance with HKAS 39.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is

discharged, cancelled or expires.

Where the Group issues its own equity instruments
to a creditor to settle a financial liability in whole
or in part as a result of renegotiating the terms
of that liability, the equity instruments issued
are the consideration paid and are recognised
initially and measured at their fair value on
the date the financial liability or part thereof
is extinguished. If the fair value of the equity
instruments issued cannot be reliably measured,
the equity instruments are measured to reflect the
fair value of the financial liability extinguished. The
difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability or part thereof extinguished and
the consideration paid is recognised in profit or

loss for the year.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(9)

Income taxes
Income taxes for the year comprise current tax and

deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary
activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable or
disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively

enacted at the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
corresponding amounts used for tax purposes. Except
for goodwill and recognised assets and liabilities that
affect neither accounting nor taxable profits, deferred
tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Deferred tax is measured
at the tax rates appropriate to the expected manner
in which the carrying amount of the asset or liability
is realised or settled and that have been enacted or

substantively enacted at the end of reporting period.

An exception to the general requirement on
determining the appropriate tax rate used in measuring
deferred tax amount is when an investment property
is carried at fair value under HKAS 40 “Investment
Property”. Unless the presumption is rebutted, the
deferred tax amounts on these investment properties
are measured using the tax rates that would apply on
sale of these investment properties at their carrying
amounts at the reporting date. The presumption is
rebutted when the investment property is depreciable
and is held within a business model whose objective
is to consume substantially all the economic benefits
embodied in the property over time, rather than through

sale.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(9)

(h)

Income taxes (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable

future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except
when they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income in which case the taxes are also

recognised in other comprehensive income.

Share-based payments

Where share options are awarded to employees and
others providing similar services that are vested at
the date of grant, the fair value of the share options
granted is expensed immediately to profit or loss with
a corresponding increase in the share option reserve

within equity.

When the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to

accumulated profit or loss.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i)

()

Impairment of other assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of the following assets
to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss or an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists

or may have decreased:
o Property, plant and equipment; and
o Investment in subsidiaries and associate

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair
value less costs to disposal and value in use) of an
asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised

as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, to the extent that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is

recognised as income immediately.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs attributable directly to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets which
require a substantial period of time to be ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of
the cost of those assets. Income earned on temporary
investments of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on those assets is deducted from borrowing
costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they

are incurred.
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66

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(k) Provisions

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event,
which will probably result in an outflow of economic

benefits that can be reasonably estimated.

() Related party

(@) A person or a close member of that person's

family is related to the Group if that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is @ member of key management personnel

of the Group or the Company's parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions apply:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is

related to the others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the

other entity is a member).

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same

third party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity

and the other entity is an associate of the

third entity.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
() Related party (continued)

(b)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions apply: (continued)

)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of the employees of the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled

by a person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
key management personnel of the entity (or

of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the

Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those

family members who may be expected to influence, or

be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the

entity and include:

0

(ii)

(iii)

that person’s children and spouse or domestic

partner;

children of that person’s spouse or domestic

partner; and

dependents of that person or that person’s spouse

or domestic partner.

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future and other sources

of estimation uncertainty at the end of reporting period that

have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to

the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next

financial year are discussed below.
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68

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Depreciation and amortisation

The Group depreciates the property, plant and equipment
over their estimated useful lives and after taking into account
their estimated residual values, using the straight line method.
The estimated useful lives reflect the directors’ estimate of
the periods that the Group intends to derive future economic
benefits from the use of the Group's property, plant and
equipment. The residual values reflect the directors’ estimated
amount that the Group would currently obtain from disposal
of the asset, after deducting the estimated costs of disposal,
if the assets were already of the age and in the condition

expected at the end of its useful life.

Allowance for bad and doubtful debts

The Group's provision policy for bad and doubtful debts is
based on the evaluation of collectability and ageing analysis
of accounts and on management'’s judgement. A considerable
amount of judgement is required in assessing the ultimate
realisation of these receivables, including the current
creditworthiness and the past collection history of each
customer. If the financial conditions of customers of the Group
were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability

to make payments, additional allowance may be required.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses impairment at each reporting date by
evaluating conditions specific to the Group that may lead to
impairment of assets. Where an impairment trigger exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is determined. Value-in-
use calculations performed in assessing recoverable amounts
incorporate a number of key estimates and assumptions
about future events, which are subject to uncertainty and
might materially differ from the actual results. In making
these key estimates and judgements, the directors take
into consideration assumptions that are mainly based on
market condition existing at the reporting date and regularly
compared to actual market date and actual transactions

entered into by the Group.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets

For available-for-sale financial assets, a significant or
prolonged decline in fair value below carrying value is
considered to be objective evidence of impairment.
Judgement is required when determining whether a decline
in fair value has been significant or prolonged. In making this
judgement, the management of the Group takes into account
factors such as industry and sector performance and financial

information regarding the investees.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An operating segment is a component of the Group that is
engaged in business activities from which the Group may
earn revenue and incur expenses, and is identified on the
basis of the internal management reporting information that
is provided to and regularly reviewed by the Group's chief
operating decision maker in order to allocate resources and
assess performance of the segment. For the years ended
31 March 2016 and 2015, the information reported to the
executive directors, who are the chief operating decision
makers for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment
of performance, do not contain profit or loss information of
each business line or geographical area and the executive
directors reviewed the financial result of the Group as a whole
reported under HKFRSs. Therefore, the executive directors
have determined that the Group has only one single business
component/reportable segment as the Group is only engaged
in investment holding. The executive directors allocate
resources and assess performance on an aggregated basis.

Accordingly, no operating segment is presented.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6.
The following table provides an analysis of the Group's
revenue and non-current assets including property, plant and
equipment and interest in an associate (i.e. “specified non-
current assets”) by geographical locations, determined based
on physical location of the assets or location of operations in

case of interest in an associate, as follows:

DEER (@)
TREHRREEERUEREB L EMEL
(MBER—RBE AR H#w) MEE R E
En e ARBWRENRIFRDEE (BEME
B Mt A RN — B E AR 2 s (BD [
EIRRBEE]) ) 2T :

Revenue from Specified
external customers non-current assets
RENREF 2 W& REFRDEE
2016 2015 2016 2015
=—B-AF ZF-1F ZEB-R"F C—T0F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET FTHET TET
Hong Kong (place of domicile) B8 (EEs) 602 227 1,115 721
Other regions of the People's hE AR AME
Republic of China (the “PRC") ([HE ) Bt - - 5,874 6,084
602 227 6,989 6,805
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REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME 7. WHERHEMBA
2016 2015
—EB-AF —
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAET
Revenue: Wz
Interest income from financial assets at BAFEFAEEREREE Y
fair value through profit or loss Mg E E 2 FEHA 602 227
Other income: EAMA
Bank interest income ER1TH BUR A 197 338
Others EAth 60 43
Dividend income &% 2 A 18 23
Exchange gain BE 5 s 3 -
278 404
Total revenue and other income W g M H A UL A 4B %R 880 631
The Group's revenue represents interest income from REEZ BRI MRRES 2 FMEBWA R
convertible bonds. No other source of income contributed to T-RERZETE—AF WEEMKARRS
the Group's revenue for both 2016 and 2015. REEBRY AR -
FINANCE COSTS 8. RBEMRK
2016 2015
—B-AF —
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FA&T

Interest on other borrowings fully repaid: ERHEEZHMBEERNES
Interest expense SN - 43
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For the year ended 31 March 2016 #E T — < H=A=+—HILFE

9.

72

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 16.5% (2015: 16.5%)
on the estimated assessable profits for the year. Overseas
tax is calculated at the rates applicable in the respective
jurisdictions. No provision for income tax expense is required

since the Group has no assessable profits either arising from

9. FBHREX

BRI AF R T ERBEF1%16.5%

o INRIRIZ A B A

RN AR ERAFEIL

BREREHAEMADEERE 2 BRBUEF - &
BAFHAEHASBE (T —0F &) -

Hong Kong or other jurisdictions during the year (2015: Nil).

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the

loss before income tax expense per consolidated statement of

profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

HEN

(=%

REFE
KA

m4m

3

—AF165% )T H
FRRBERAHEE

T HR A B
SRS AIEEZEEROT

5N H b 2T W

2016 2015
—E—XRE —hF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FET
Loss before income tax expense BrATIS R S AIE 1B (23,974) (88,885)
Tax calculated at the domestic income R PTIS TR R16.5%
tax rate of 16.5% (2015: 16.5%) (ZE—HF:165%)
AHE IR (3,956) (14,666)
Tax effect of share of results of an associate D1 —REt &R A EE 2
Mgee - 1
Tax effect of expenses not deductible PRIHB X 2 R &
for tax purpose 2,928 11,991
Tax effect of revenue not taxable BARBNRGZ 2 MG E
for tax purpose (237) (720)
Tax effect on temporary differences not REREREF VBT E
recognised (30) 20
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERMIBEE 2 HELE 1,295 3,374

Income tax expense

PR1STER X
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NEZAZT—ALFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 9. FBHEX#®)
No deferred tax asset liability recorded on temporary HREREEINBTEUAEEN S I
differences of approximately HK$3,376,000 (2015: TER HABERMBEREAATEREZELD
approximately HK$3,558,000) has been made in the financial 3,376,000/ 7T ( —Z — H 4 : 493,558,000/ 7T.)
statements as the tax effect of the temporary difference is BISRENEEEARG-
immaterial to the Group.
At the end of reporting period, the Group had unused tax RBERAR XEBEBERBABEBELY
losses of approximately HK$83,344,000 (2015: approximately 83,344,000/ 7T ( =T — T4 : #975,496,0007&
HK$75,496,000) available for offset against future profits that J0) c Al AR AR R B ER B AR o |y
may be carried forward indefinitely. No deferred tax asset has AR TR AR AR TR E - S Ea R E B
been recognised in respect of the unused tax losses due to BEBRBRELCHIEEE-
unpredictability of future profit streams.
LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. @Fﬁ' SHBE X RIEE
Loss before income tax expense is stated after charging the FTiSFiMAZ AT EE IR T 5 & 18 -
following:
2016 2015
—E-REF —hF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THET
Staff costs 8 IR
Salaries e 4,408 3,619
Provident fund contributions NESHZK 79 63
Equity-settled share-based payment T A5 E DA 3% - 9,327
Total staff costs excluding directors’ B A4EE
remunerations (TBEREEEM:) 4,487 13,009
Auditor’s remuneration ZEA B 425 370
Depreciation e 295 270
Directors’ remuneration (note 14) B (14 2,921 7,807
Impairment loss on available-for-sale AHEMBEE 2 REEE
financial assets 17,670 -
Equity-settled share-based payment e 2 45 AR 19 5 3¢
Directors (note 14) = (HizE14) - 6,480
Consultants =) = 66,112
Total equity-settled share based payment 1 25 45 & LARR (5 1~ 48 58 - 72,592
Investment manager’s fee BEKEER 720 720
Rent and rates He k= 2,090 1,882
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11. DIVIDENDS 11. RE
The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend EETEEMBE_ZT-—RF=A=+—HL
for the year ended 31 March 2016 (2015: Nil). FERTEMBRE(ZE—RAFE) -

12. LOSS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO 12. XAREEABERFEERE
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY
Loss attributable to shareholders includes an amount of BRRELGEEREFEERARAAMBRERA
approximately HK$19,989,000 (2015: HK$108,410,000) R IE A ##19,989,0008 L (ZFE— R F:
which has been dealt with in the financial statements of the 108,410,000/ 7T ) 2 7R IE
Company.

13. LOSS PER SHARE 13. BREE
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share RAREBERTE ARGERERN#EE
attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company is BIRATEIRGFHE

based on the following data:

2016 2015
—E-AF —T-RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TET
Loss %=1
Loss for the year attributable to owners of ~ HREFTEBREARK
the Company for the purposes of HEEB A QT
basic and diluted loss per share BB ANEERERER (23,974) (88,885)
Number of shares RO EE
Weighted average number of ordinary AR EERERK
shares for the purposes of basic and HEEE 2 LmR ke
diluted loss per share (note (a)) FHE (M) 8,616,470,823 8,167,969,951
Notes: Pt
(a) The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the year (a) BHE-_ZE—XRE=-A=+—BHIFEERAKN:
ended 31 March 2016 for the purpose of basic and diluted loss EEREAREESER Y T@EIZMNETY
per share have been adjusted for the issue of shares during OB EZAINEERITROEN_-Z
the year then ended and subdivision of share being completed —HE— A - BRI IRMAEL A KN
on 2 January 2015 as if the subdivision was effective from the mEpIFEAERE S RE=A=+—
beginning of the year ended 31 March 2015, as detailed in note H It FEE AR £ 5515 R HTsE22 -
22.
(b)  No diluted loss per share has been presented as the potential b) HBERAMKRTEZERERSREELER
ordinary share in respect of outstanding share options is anti- REZMEEEES REEWE T EZT|
dilutive for both years. SR EEEIE -

74 Annual Report &% 2016



14. DIRECTORS' AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 14.
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(a)

Directors’ emoluments
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For the year ended 31 March 2016 #E_F— < F=A=+—HAILFE

Directors’ emoluments for the year, disclosed pursuant

to Section 383 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,

(Cap. 622) and the Companies (Disclosure of Information

about Benefits of Directors) Regulation (Cap. 622G) are

ESkTEBEFALIZHE

(@ EE=ME
RIEE AR BMEF] (5622F ) 538315 &
AR (BWBEESFEZER) B (5622G
B)FUBBZAFEESHEMT

as follows:
2016 2015
—E—RF —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Fees we
Executive directors HITES 375 286
Non-executive directors ERITESE 240 240
Independent non-executive directors B IEHITE SR 720 720
1,335 1,246
Basic salaries and other benefits EAFHE LEMEF 1,568 80
Contributions to retirement benefit IRRFEFIFT B R
scheme 18 1
Equity-settled share-based payment  #zm & H AR M - 6,480
2,921 7,807

No directors had waived any emoluments and no

emoluments were paid to the directors as inducement

to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation

for loss of office during the year (2015: Nil).

RAFE BESEFEHERTAME  TE
AEEXNEMNNE  FREBIEMAR
SERNIMAREE R 2 520 JIERRE
BwaE(ZT—RF 8E)-
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14. DIRECTORS' AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 14. EERAEBREFAIZHME (&)
INDIVIDUALS' EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (a) EEM<E (&)
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the six EfNSENRE (ZE—hEF:  RE)E
(2015: six) directors are as follows: E2MenT:
2016
ZE-RE
Contribution
Salaries and  to retirement  Share-based
Fees other benefits scheme payment Total
Y Bk
e HitEH FEMR  URANR @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiER TiER TiER TR TR

Executive directors HITES
Chan Cheong Yee REE 360 - - - 360
Zhang Xurning (note (i) RABE (M) 15 1,484 18 - 1,517

Non-executive director FHTES

Chen Yin RA 240 84 - - 324
Independent non- BUFHTES
executive directors

Fong Wo, Felix H A 240 = = = 240

Leung Chi Kong 25N 240 - - - 240

Leung Wing Kin 2RE 240 - - - 240
1,335 1,568 18 - 2,921

Note: B s

(i) Appointed on 14 March 2016 (i) RZE—RFZA+HOAEZRT
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For the year ended 31 March 2016 #E_F— < F=A=+—HAILFE

14. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 14. EERLEBREHFALIZHE @)
INDIVIDUALS' EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (a) EEM<E (&)
2015
—Z-h%
Contribution
Salaries and  to retirement  Share-based
Fees other benefit scheme payment Total
Hak Rikg
we Hi &7 HEMER UBRHAER @Er

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TBT T TR TBT

Executive directors HTES
Chan Cheong Yee FRER 270 - - 1,889 2,159
Wong Chak Keung (note (i) &2 (PizE()) 16 80 1 - 97

Non-executive director FHTES

Chen Yin (3 240 - - 116 356
Independent non- BUKHTES
executive directors

Fong Wo, Felix LRl 240 - - 1,790 2,030

Leung Chi Kong RER 240 - - 1,790 2,030

Leung Wing Kin R 240 - - 895 1135
1,246 80 1 6,480 7,807

Note: Bt aE

(i) Resigned on 25 April 2014 (i) RZZT—MEMNA - +HABE

The number of directors whose remuneration fell within MeNFUTHEZESAZNT:

the following band is as follows:

2016 2015

—E—-RE —E—RF

HK$nil to HK$1,000,000 56 7T %2 1,000,00058 7T 5 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 1,000,0017% 7T £ 3,000,000/ 7T 1
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14.

78

DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 14. EERFEBREHFALZHE &)

INDIVIDUALS' EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals’ emoluments (b)
The emoluments of the five highest paid individuals
(2015: five) (which include 2 directors (2015: Nil)) are as

EEREHFALZHME
IE(ZZ2—0%F ") &AL (K
TEEMAS (ZE-—HF B)EE) 2

follows: ST

2016 2015

— —E-AF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAET

Basic salaries and other benefits ERFH o R EMET] 3,989 2,217
Contributions to retirement benefit IRRARFIFT S 3R

scheme 52 27

Equity-settled share-based payment  #E @ &E UK 13K - 30,120

4,041 32,364

The number of the five highest paid individuals whose

remuneration fell within the following band is as follows:

MENFATHE 2 AREHHA LR
BT

2016 2015

—EB-REF —E—hF

HK$nil to HK$1,000,000 =% 7T 51,000,000 7T 3 -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 1,000,0015% 7T % 3,000,000/ 7T 2 -
HK$3,000,001 to HK$6,000,000 3,000,001 7T 26,000,0007% 7T - 1
HK$6,000,001 to HK$9,000,000 6,000,001/ 7T 29,000,0007% 7T - 4

There was no arrangement under which any of the
five (2015: five) highest paid employees had waived or

agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group
to any of the directors or the highest paid employees as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as

compensation for loss of office.
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15. Y¥E -BERRE

Leasehold Furniture, Motor Computer
improvements  equipment Vehicle equipment Total
HENERE HKARRE RE EHRE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FET TER FER TEx
At 31 March 2014 and R=ZZ-mE=A=+-AR
1 April 2014 —E-mENA-A
Cost PR 3772 36 476 38 4322
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (3,772 (19) (16) 7 (3,814)
Net carrying amount REFE - 17 460 31 508
Year ended 31 March 2015 BE-2-1%
ZRAEt-HLEE
Opening net carrying amount AR E - 17 460 31 508
Additions wE 474 9 - - 483
Depreciation nE (158) 9 (95) 8) (270)
Closing net carrying amount HARREEE 316 17 365 23 721
At 31 March 2015 R-Z-EF=A=1-H
Cost B% 4,246 45 476 38 4,805
Accumulated depreciation 2EHE (3,930) (28) (1) (15) (4,084)
Net carrying amount REFE 316 17 365 23 721
Year ended 31 March 2016 BE-Z2-Xf
ZA=t-HLEE
Opening net carrying amount HERE A 316 17 365 23 721
Additions WE 15 44 618 12 689
Depreciation bk (161) ©) (116) 9 (295)
Closing net carrying amount HAREREEE 170 52 867 26 1,115
At 31 March 2016 RZB-REZR=+-H
Cost KR 4,261 89 1,094 50 5,494
Accumulated depreciation 2 E (4,091) (37) (227) (24) (4,379)
Net carrying amount REFE 170 52 867 26 1,115
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16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 16. RBARIZIRE
The particulars of the Company's subsidiaries as at 31 March ARG zZMBRARIR _E—RE=ZA=1+—H
2016 are as follows: ZRBIT
Place of Issues and Attributable equity
incorporation/ fully paid interests held by
Name operation share capital the Company Principal activities
M, BEITR b NN
=1 SEME HERE Fir 5 P 4 PR AEE FTEER
Direct Indirect
E# %
China Equity Assets Holdings Hong Kong HK$1 100% - Investment holding
Limited
FEEEEEEERRAR N 1T REER
Master Smooth Investment Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding
Development Limited
BRERERRARLDA B BT KA
Eternal Fame Industrial Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100%  Investment holding
XEBEERLA B 10,000 7T REER
Able Surplus Corporation Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100%  Investment holding
Limited
EREXBRAT £ 10,0008 7T REZER
Smart Access Capital Limited BVI/Hong Kong Us$100 100% - Investment holding
EBGERES/ 100%E 7T REZER
Bk
Urban Thrive Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$50,000 100% - Investment holding
EBRREB/ 50,0003 7T REER
BB
Moonglory International BVI/Hong Kong US$50,000 100% - Investment holding
Properties Limited
EBGERES/ 50,000% 7T REZER
Bk
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16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Place of
incorporation/

Issues and
fully paid

NEZAZT—ALFE

16. RMBRARIZIRE (&)

Attributable equity
interests held by

Name operation share capital the Company Principal activities
L, BEBITK AT
=1 EEWH BRBRAE P i AL AR 4 FEEH
Direct Indirect
BE#E Gif
Giant Treasure Global Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100% - Dormant
HBRREB/ E BEER
BB
Ray Wealth Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Dormant
ERARDA B BT EEXH
Global QOasis Corporation Hong Kong HK$1 100% - Dormant
Limited
HBEEHAERAR BB BT EEXK
Green Rhythm Limited Hong Kong N/A 100% - Dormant
HBEHERAA BB &R EEXK

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding

at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

% B D R R S AE A B B A

REEBEBES -
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17. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

17. R—ZXBEQTzER

2016 2015

—EB-AF —

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Share of net assets of an associate PME—FKEERBZEEFE 5,874 6,084
(@)  Details of the Group's associate at 31 March 2016 are as @ AEEZBEARNR-Z-—XRE=ZH

follows:

St—BzEMET:

Percentage
Place of Issued and fully of equity ~ Proportion of
incorporation/ paid registered held by voting  Principal
Name of associate operation capital the Group power  activity
B3 BERITRBRE  FEEFRE
- INGIEE EENHY dMER  EREESL REELH TEXHK
Bonicast Construction Material ~ People's Republic of Registered 49% 20%  Trading of
(Beijing) Co., Ltd (“Bonicast”) China ("PRC") RMB10,000,000 (note) construction
materials
SREFRENH (R) hEE AR LA EEai 49% 0% EHES
BRRA([ERER]) (IhEl) AE#10,000,0007 GES)
Note: The Group is able to exercise significant influence over Msr: ANEFEEMEeEEETEEAY

Bonicast because it has the power to appoint one out
of five directors of that company under the articles of

association of that company.
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17. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 17. R—
(b)  Summarised financial information in respect of Bonicast, (b)

China Investment Development Limited o 1Bl & % AR A A
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For the year ended 31 March 2016 #E_ZF— < F=A=+—HAILFE

which is a material associate to the Group, is set out

below:

REHE DTz (8)
FEMEEMLATGBEEIHBE
HEEHIIMT

2016 2015
—E-AF —T-RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
As at 31 March R=A=+—H
Current assets MEEE 12,021 12,450
Non-current assets FERBEE = -
Current liabilities mENa & (33) (34)
Net assets BEFE 11,988 12,416
Reconciliation to the Group’s interest ~ #17N B R ZHE N\ 7]2
in the associate: a1k
Proportion of the Group's ownership ~ ZN&E B 2 A #E L] 49% 49%
Group's share of net assets of REEDEZME N FEE
the associate 5,874 6,084
Carrying amount of the associate B N EIBREE 5,874 6,084
Included in the above amounts are: T AU _LZFE -
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEFED 1 2
Current financial liabilities (excluding REBIUFEE (TEIEEZ S
trade and other payables) JREAF R 38 N EAth FE A5 5RO ) - -
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17. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)

17. R—KXBE QT 2= (#)

(o) (continued) (b) (%)
2016 2015
—E—XRE —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Year ended 31 March BE=A=+—BLEE
Revenue & 1,500 -
Loss from operation REREEBLZEE = (14)
Total comprehensive income PHEEEE (428) (174)
Group's share of result of an AEESE—RBERRZ
associate B | - 8)
Group's share of total comprehensive ANEED(H—REtZ QA2
income of an associate PHIN B (210) (86)
Included in the above amounts are: AU F2EE
Depreciation and amortisation FrEREH - -
Interest income M EHA - -
Income tax expense FTiSE A X - -
18. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS 18. THEMKEE
2016 2015
—E—RE —E—1F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Unlisted equity securities in PRC, at cost B IE E TR AR 5 0 AR 72,185 53,882
Fair value adjustment NTHERE 21,290 7,659
93,475 61,541
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For the year ended 31 March 2016 #E_F— < F=A=+—HAILFE

18. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS 18. AIHEMKEE (&)
(continued))
Particulars of investments in unlisted equity securities held by BIEETRANENERBEZAEER T —X
the Group as at 31 March 2016 and 2015 disclosed pursuant FR-ZF-RAF=A=T—BMFIFLIRAE
to Chapter 21 of Listing Rules are as follows: BHIREFEWOT
Percentage of
Place of effective Accumulated fair value
Name of investee companies  incorporation interest held At cost adjustment Carrying value
FREER
BEXRENAER AR viEs EEESHL BEA R A TERAE REE
31/3/2016  31/3/2015 31/3/2016  31/3/2015 31/3/2016  31/3/2015
“E-Af “T-0F ZB-AF —T-0F ZB-AF —T-0fF
=AR =A =R =A =H =A
=t-A8 =t-B =+-B =t-B =t-A =1-H
HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TER THER TER TER THET
Tianjin Bao Xin Ying Precious PRC 12.00% 6,590 6,590 578 3,498 7,168 10,088
Metals Management Limited
("Bao Xin") (note (iii)
KEEEREGBLEERDNA +
(IE&]) (Kexi)
GuangZhou Shi Da Jian Credit ~ PRC 11.59% 9,800 9,800 (3,137) (2,383) 6,663 7417
Guarantee Limited
("Da Jian") (note (iv))
BNTERERERERLF HE
(FE$]) ()
China Petroleum Bio-Energy Hong Kong 5.69% 24,400 24,400 36,415 3511 60,815 27,911
Company Limited
("Bio-Energy”) (note (v))
HEBRAENMERERAR B
(MemaelR])) (FiEy)
Yenbo Gain Limited BVI 18.18% 13,092 13,092 1,967 3,033 15,059 16,125
("Yenbo Gain") (note (vi))
BRENBRAR ([BREHN]) HBARES
(&)
Perfect Worth Investment BVI 5.00% 18,303 - (14,533) - 3,770 -
Limited (“Perfect Worth")
(note (vii))
Perfect Worth Investment HEBHERHS
Limited ([Perfect Worth |)
(P &£ i)
72,185 53,882 21,290 7,659 93,475 61,541
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NEZAZT—HULEFE

18. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS
(continued|)

86

Note:

(i)

(ii)

The investments in Da Jian and Perfect Worth are measured
at fair value and classified as Level 3 fair value measurement.
The fair values of unlisted equity securities are determined
by reference to the valuation carried out by an external
independent valuer by using Guideline Publicly Traded
Company method with reference to similar listed companies
and adjusted to reflect the specific circumstance of the
investments. The significant unobservable inputs are as follows:

18. AIHEMKEE (#)

GEE

0]

RS N Perfect Worth 2 & TH LA R FEET
£ WHBAIMPATEE - FELMBRAE
H 2 NFEIVESEINEE L HERMEA

MARIESIAEL 2 A EETE  ZHED
K2EBEULTAREHRMEZEREZ
FETE AR T HETT SR 2 o B8 KT A R 28l A 2K
BT

Da Jian Perfect Worth
ER Perfect Worth
Lack of marketability discount rate Rz TS mEN TR IR & 20% 20%

Da Jian and Perfect Worth are valued by a price-to-book
ratio multiple and indicated value per active customer of
comparable listed companies respectively. A discount is
applied to reflect the lack of marketability of the unlisted
investments.

If the lack of marketability discount rate was 5% higher/lower
while all other variables were held constant, the carrying
amount of the investments in Da Jian and Perfect Worth
would decrease/increase by approximately HK$83,000 (2015:
HK$93,000) and HK$47,000 (2015: HK$nil) respectively.

The investment in Bio-Energy and Yenbo Gain are measured
at fair value and classified as Level 3 fair value measurement.
The fair value of Bio-Energy and Yenbo Gain are determined
by reference to the valuation carried out by an external
independent valuer by using Discounted Cash Flow method.
The significant unobservable inputs are as follows:

(ii)

iE4 N Perfect Worth?) BIIE Al & LLER_E R
R TEREEHELEBUEREF ZETE
ETHE - EARMZSELTRERZT
’ij//lu@”iﬁﬁj]ﬂlf/\gﬁiﬁ

W Z TS RENERIR R FF 5%
FrE A IEA R - BN ER K Perfect
Worthz % & BREE 15 5 BlR 2 10 49
83,000/ 7T (=& — A 4F : 93,000/ 7T) &
47,0007 (B —HF ) o

REMEERRBEN ZIREARATFERE -
W ER3MAVFEE - EMEREAE
M2 AFETESEINEE L HER A
AR S MEAEL 2 HEET - EATA
BIRm ABBENT

Bio-Energy Yenbo Gain

EYEEIR BEAR

Lack of marketability discount rate Rz S e R R & 30% 25%
Growth rate ERX 6%-75% 3%-137%
Gross profit margin ERE 70%-87% 32%-37%

If the lack of marketability and control discount rates were 5%
higher/lower while all other variables were held constant, the
carrying amount of the investments in Bio-Energy and Yenbo
Gain would decrease/increase by approximately HK$1,303,000
(2015: HK$820,000) and HK$251,000 (2015: HK$806,000)
respectively.
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For the year ended 31 March 2016 #E_F— < F=A=+—HAILFE

18. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

(continued|)
Note: (continued)

(i)

(iii)

(continued)

The fair value of Yenbo Gain was determined by using
Guideline Publicly Traded Company method in 2015. The
valuation technique is changed since Yenbo Gain has sufficient
operation track record to develop prudent forecast in this year,
and the Discounted Cash Flow method is considered as a more
appropriate method.

Bao Xin is a PRC established company and principally engaged
in the trading of precious metals and gold products and
investment advisory in Tianjin, the PRC.

The investment in Bao Xin is measured at fair value and
classified as Level 3 fair value measurement. The fair value of
Bao Xin is determined by reference to the valuation carried
out by an external independent valuer by using Asset Based
Approach. The fair value of Bao Xin was determined by using
Guideline Publicly Traded Company method in 2015. The
valuation technique is changed since Bao Xin reported loss
during the year ended 31 March 2016, and the Guideline
Publicly Traded Company method is considered not applicable.

Da Jian is a PRC established company and principally
engaged in providing credit guarantee service in the PRC. The
acquisition was completed on 21 January 2014.

On 2 May 2014 and 12 June 2014, the Company entered
into four sale and purchase agreements with vendors and a
subscription agreement with Bio-Energy, pursuant to which the
Company has conditionally agreed to acquire and subscribe
from vendors the shares of Bio-Energy, a company incorporated
in Hong Kong by issuing 5,755,102 shares (“Consideration
Shares”) and paying cash consideration of HK$13,800,000.
Upon completion of the transactions, the Company effectively
held 5.69% of the enlarged capital of Bio-Energy. The company
is principally engaged in research, development and promotion
of biomass energy and other agricultural related products. One
of its subsidiaries has obtained the development and operation
right of a piece of land in Xinjiang Province, the PRC, which is
under construction and plantation of bio-oil crops and shelter
belt plants.

As at the completion dates, the Group issued the
Consideration Shares at market quoted prices of HK$1.77
to HK$1.88 per share to the vendors. The fair value of the
investment in Bio-Energy was approximately HK$24,400,000,
which is the initial cost of investment in Bio-Energy.

18. AIHEMKEE (#)

GEE
(i

(iii)

(iv)

(%)
(%)
R-ZF—0F BENZRFEDHEMRLED
AAIESAEE - B E/RETEIIANEE
FARFEHERATR ZEEEETHAEL
FEZBAARBRSREBERBER—&

BEREE 2L

BEEAHARTERIL AR ETRRF
RERFECBRESHRBEERRER
AR

REZEZRENEATFESE XHEA3
BAFEFE -BEZ ATEDEZEINE
By hEMERAEEEWEEL 2 AEE
E-R-_T—hF BEIAVENERL
MARIESLARBE - BEMHENEIHRE
ENBE_Z-REZRA=T—HIEEE
SRR R EMRRESDARAR A TER -

ERBFAPBEKILZ AR TEZRHE
RREHEERERRY -ZRBEEER-F
—OFE-A=+—H5%EK-

R-E—NFRA-—BER-ZFT—NFA
+ZB ARRRZEZE LN EE R
H N EAEYRERT — DR Bt
AARE B GHERZBEBIETT5,755,1028 8%
5 ([RERS ) RE &M E13,800,000
B ESWERREEDER (—HRE
BEMKLZ AR ZBRH -RZERSHT
B - N R B BRIFA £ MR 2 S EA R
AR5.69% c Z AR EBHEEMELIRFIR
TEVIMEBAE mEVER T M E - JE T —
RMBARIEEFREFBERSE -1
RIS T EAREEE YL A
RHEYI LA K 22 35 [ AR o

REXBH AEBRER177ETE1.68
BLzmsREBAEFBETRERSD K
EWREIRIRE 2 X FEH) £524,400,0008 7T
(TIREMRER Z NFIRERA) e
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18. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

(continued))
Note: (continued)

88

(vi)

(vii)

On 12 August 2014, the Company entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with vendor pursuant to which the
Company has conditionally agreed to acquire from vendor
the 5.26% equity interest of Yenbo Gain for a consideration
of HK$3,273,000 by issuing 2,045,625 shares at an issue price
of HK$1.6 per share. On the same day, the Company entered
into a subscription agreement with Yenbo Gain pursuant to
which Yenbo Gain agreed to issue subscription shares to the
Company, which represented 15.79% equity interest of Yenbo
Gain as at that date for a consideration of HK$9,819,000. Upon
completion of the transactions, the Company effectively held
18.18% of the enlarged capital of Yendo Gain. Yenbo Gain
Limited is incorporated in BVI and principally engaged in
cultivation and research of the fine and new varieties forest
products together with the research and promotion of product
cultivation technology for producing clean energy purposes.

On 3 June 2015, the Company entered into an sale and
purchase agreement with vendors pursuant to which the
Company has conditionally agreed to acquire from vendors
the 5.00% equity interest of Perfect Worth for a consideration
of HK$20,000,000, of which, HK$8,000,000 settled by issuing
24,242,424 shares ("Consideration Shares II”) of the Company
at an issue price of HK$0.33 per share, and HK$12,000,000
settled by cash. Perfect Worth is an investment holding
company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the
business of online distribution of footwear.

As at the completion date, the Group issued the Consideration
Shares Il at market quoted price of HK$0.26 per share to the
vendor. The fair value of the investment in Perfect Worth
was approximately HK$18,303,000, which is the initial cost of
investment in Perfect Worth.
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18. AAHEMKEE ()

B 5E
(vi)

(vii)

(#)

R-ZE-—MENA+ B ARQFEES
AVEERE Bt ARREBERERE
MEFBBREERNZ526%KE REA
3,273,000%8 7T, + B iBIE TR 68T 2 A TE
3172,045,62508 IR A4 c MR B - AR A
HAENTURERZ B AFFRE
MARREITHERBEFE B15.79%%
12 REENRH - R 1E A9,819,000/ T 7%
ERXGHTREE AR BERFHEREN 2K
TEARIRAN18.18% - REFBR AN EE M
RESEMKY  EBERENAZ REHRE
R RIEME  URUAEABRERAE R
R RIS LR

MR-EB—RAFENA=B AQREET ]
NEEHE B ARREERERER
2 77 U B Perfect Worth 5.00%% 4 - (X B &
20,000,0007% 7T » H F18,000,0007% Tt i 1B 1%
EITEEAR0.3IB LB 1T AR R 724,242,424
B A% (TRERR G511 ) 1+ 112,000,000
B ICRIAE & 25 o Perfect Worth/AB— K 1%
BEEBARBEMBAREERER/ LY

REA B - N& EIR 15 R E T R0.26/8
TCREFEITRERDI © B Perfect Worth
"E 2 NFEL A18,303,000/ 7T (Th R
Perfect WorthZ fl] 63 B A) o
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For the year ended 31 March 2016 #E_ZF— < F=A=+—HAILFE

18. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS 18. AJHEMBEE (&)
(continued))

The following is the analysis of fair value change of AFS NTRAHEMBEERBE_T—R"ERZ
E-RAF=A=1t—HALFEERAFETEZ

AFEEBHH

financial assets that are measured at fair value for the years
ended 31 March 2016 and 2015:

Change in fair value during the
year ended 31 March
BEE=A=t-HLFEZ

ATEEH

2016 2015

—E-AKE —E-hF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Unlisted equity securities issued by: HATREIETZIELET
IR AR F 5

— Bao Xin —8% (2,920) 2,988
— Da Jian —iER (754) (383)
- Bio-Energy — S YRER 32,904 3,511
~Yenbo Gain — BB (1,066) 3,033
— Perfect Worth — Perfect Worth (14,533) -
13,631 9,149

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 19. BAFEFAEEBREE2UBEE
PROFIT OR LOSS

2016 2015
—E—-RE —E—1E
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAET
Hong Kong listed equity securities, BB ETRAES

at market value (note a) EmiE (MiEa) 12,080 7,298

Investments in convertible bonds, FERAIRARES
at fair value (note b) BAFEE (MsEb) 26,155 21,832
38,235 29,130
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19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 19. BRAFEFAZEREE 2MBEE

PROFIT OR LOSS (continued) (%)

(@)  Particulars of investments of listed equity securities held @ WBELFMHRIENERREZAEBNR
by the Group as at 31 March 2016 and 2015 disclosed T-RNERZFT-—RF=A=1T—8M
pursuant to Chapter 21 of Listing Rules are as follows: B LEmRAZEARREFBOT:

2016 —E-XF
Accumulated
unrealised
Percentage gain/(loss)
Name of Number of of interest Market  arisingon  Change in
investee companies Notes  shares held held Cost value revaluation  fair value
EffEER
R RER
Fiisiss s/
BXRENFEH Wi HERGHE BA A miE (B8) 2AVEED

HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FER AR AR

CITIC Limited (“CITIC") 0] 30,000 ordinary 0.0001% 482 354 (128) (44)
shares
hEFERHERRA 30,0008k & i %
(fED)
Echo International (ii) 11,168,000 ordinary 1.3960% 4,846 11,726 6,880 6,880
Holdings Group Limited shares

(“Echo International”)
B (BR)EREE 11,168, 00088 & i i%
BERAR ([REEE])
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19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 19. BAFEATEREECHMBEE
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued) (&)
(@) (continued) (a) (%)
2015 —ET—RF
Accumulated
unrealised
Percentage gain/(loss)
Name of Number of of interest arisingon  Change in
investee companies shares held held Cost Market value  revaluation fair value
BiELEZ
BHE2E
FrisiEn Wa/
EXRERAEH iigetien 4= [Eil¢ AR i (B8) RTVEEY
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THT FET T
CITIC Limited ("CITIC") 30,000 ordinary shares 0.0001% 482 398 (84) (84)
PEFERDERD A 30,000/% & 8 A
(repdsl)
China Fiber Optic Network 600,000 ordinary share 0.0344% 1,453 1,260 (193) (193)
System Group Limited
("China Fiber")
FEIXEBREE R GRS 600,000 & &A%
ERAF ([REXE])
Maanshan Iron & Steel Co. 150,000 ordinary share 0.0019% 357 335 (22) (22)
Limited
(“Maanshan Iron & Steel”)
BEILMEROBRAT 150,0000% F 8%
(TS ILE])
Echo International Holdings 2,792,000 ordinary share 1.3960% 5,040 4,691 (349) (349)
Group Limited
(“Echo International”)
®m (BIRR) R % E 2,792,000% & A%
BRAR ([HRESEE])
CSR Corporation Limited 60,000 ordinary share 0.0004% 576 614 38 38
("CSR Corporation”)
REEERNERA A 60,0000 & 8 1

(IrEfmE])
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19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

92

(a)

(continued))

Notes:

(i)

CITIC was incorporated in Hong Kong and the share of
which are listed on Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange (stock code: 267). CITIC was an investment
holding company and its subsidiaries were engaged in
financial services, resources and energy, manufacturing,
engineering contracting, real estate and infrastructure
as well as other businesses. For the financial year ended
31 December 2015, the audited consolidated profit
attributable to equity holders of CITIC was approximately
HK$41,812,000,000 with basic and diluted profit per
share of HK$1.58 and HK$1.57. As at 31 December 2015,
its audited consolidated net assets attributable to the
Company was approximately HK$684,000. An interim of
HK$0.1 per share and the final dividend of HK$0.2 per
share were received during the year ended 31 March
2016.

Echo International was incorporated in Hong Kong and
overseas and the share of which are listed on GEM Board
of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 8218).
Echo International was engaged in the manufacturing
and trading of electronic products and accessories. For
the financial year ended 31 March 2016, the audited
consolidated profit from operations attributable to
equity holders of Echo International was approximately
HK$13,739,000 with basic and diluted profit per share
of HK$1.7 cents. As at 31 March 2016, its audited
consolidated net assets attributable to the Company was
approximately HK$380,000. No dividend was received
during the year ended 31 March 2016.

The fair values of the Group's investment in listed equity

securities are based on quoted market prices.
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19. BRAOVEFAERSREZMBEE
(%)
(@) (%)

P&

()  HFEREBTMRIL ERORES
Bt S AT EAR £ (AR AR 5% < 267) ©
FREA-RIEEERAG  MmEM
BABAKESRRY BRIk
BB TRAE BHERER
NREMBEL - BE-_T—AF+=
A=+—BLEUKRFEE PEE
BAEAEBEECEZGAEZNNA
41,812,000,000/8 7T * FRREAR K #H
i B1.58B T RI.57B LR ZE
—RAF+ZA=+—8 AQFEN
ZARZEERGAEEFENA
684,000/ 7L REZE —E—RF= A
=t+—BLEFE BRRFPHRES
120.178 T R AR BIRR B & 1R0. 27 7T

(i)  RSBEBENEBRSIEMKL K
DR BB TAIZER B (1D
5% :8218) - B BEBENEEFEM
Mtz EERES -BE-T—RX
FZA=ZT—HULHERFE BH
BREFAABIGRERGSEER
FI#) 413,739,000 7T - TR E AR &
BRI T - KT —RF=
A=t+—B ARBEEZRRZE
BiZkR A EEFER /380,000 7T
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For the year ended 31 March 2016 #E==%—

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(k)

Particulars of investments in convertible bonds held
by the Group as at 31 March 2016 and 2015 disclosed

pursuant to Chapter 21 of Listing Rules are as follows:

19.
(%)

(b) IRIEETRAIE
F-NER-T—

=

Aok o TV 05 % B ik

NEZAZT—ALFE

BAVEFACTESRECMKEE

NEFRBEZARERZ
BAF=RA=+—HFF

FRENATBERERFBEOAT:

Name of Place of Unlisted debt
investee company incorporation securities, at cost Fair value adjustment Carrying value
FETEHES
BEIRENFER AL AR 3L it B BRAE ALERRE BREE
31/3/2016 31/3/2015  31/3/2016 31/3/2015  31/3/2016 31/3/2015
ZB-RE T-IF ZB-"§ "T-hF ZB-R¥ _—T-IF
=ZR=+-8 =ZA=+—-8 ZA=t-8B =ZA=1t—-H ZA=+-B =ZA=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TERT TERT TERT TET TET
Guanwan Investments Limited BVI 20,000 20,000 6,155 1,832 26,155 21,832
(note(i))
BEREFR AT (M) EBHERES
(i) On 22 December 2014, the Company invested in the (i) R_ZE—WF+=-_A=-+=-H 'K

3% unsecured convertible bonds issued by Guanwan
Investments Limited (“Guanwan”) at a face value of
HK$20,000,000, bearing coupon interest rate of 3% per
annum. Guanwan is an investment holding company
which indirectly holds 100% shares of its subsidiary, &
NeFBREBRAR ("FB"). 2FE
engaging in designing, manufacturing and retail of

is principally

women'’s dress in PRC. Each convertible bond due on 22
December 2017 is convertible into 24 fully paid ordinary
shares of Guanwan with a par value of USD1.00 each at
a conversion price of HK$833,333 per conversion share.
The Company can exercise the conversion at any time
until the maturity date.

Investments in convertible bonds represent investments
in convertible bonds issued by Guanwan. The
investments in the convertible bonds have debt
components and embedded derivatives components.
The directors of the Company designated the combined
contracts as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss and recognised at fair value. The fair value of the
combined contracts as at 31 March 2016 is determined
by reference to the valuation carried out by an external
independent valuer by using Discounted Cash Flow
Method and Binominal Option Pricing Model. The inputs
are as follows:

\

NEIFRERBEREBRAF ([T
BaTziEaER R RRES
% % (& % M B 420,000,000/ 7T * 1%
EENERGFIEFE -BEAKREAE

ERR AR MEDEEWE AR

SRBREGRAR ([5E) 2
10067 H-&eHREBEFRKE

KT SERTE-FHR=Z
—+FE+ A+ BB AR
B AR IR (B T AR AR AR 19833,333
Bt AEESREE0ETLZ
B R B R B 24R% o AR B AT N
Hi B RTBERS T T IR ARAE -

BERIMREFERENTEET
ZZ‘T?%Hx‘wé? RABRES 2184
BIEEBE D MR AXSTETAH
Do RARESHEARHEHNRBIER
FEFACERREZMEEE I
2@/ iﬁﬁ?” /\H HWRZZE—R
9%5“@%1@%%?&?@Eﬁfﬁfﬁ(ﬁﬁéi
_IETHEV”H BRAFTEGEMS
TE BB ABURMT

Uﬂx
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For the year ended 31 March 2016 #E T — < H=A=+—HILFE

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)
(b)  (continued)

Guanwan
Underlying share price HK$1,098,526
Number of share outstanding 100
Conversion price per share HK$833,333
Time to maturity 1.7 years
Interest rate per annum 3%
Discount rate 19.334%
Dividend yield 0%
Risk free rate 2.275%
Volatility 58.497%

The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value
measurement are the underlying share price and expected
volatility. The fair value measurement is positively correlated to
the underlying share price and expected volatility.

As at 31 March 2016, it is estimated that with all other variables
held constant, an increase/decrease in the expected volatility
by 5% would have increased/decreased the carrying amount
of the investment by approximately HK$129,000/HK$134,000
(2015: HK$176,000/HK$139,000).

In addition, it is estimated that with all other variables held
constant, an increase/decrease in the underlying share prices
by 5% would have increased/decreased the carrying amount
of the investment by approximately HK$1,075,000/HK$769,000
(2015: HK$808,000/HK$784,000).
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19. BAFEFACRERECMBEE

(%)
(b)

(#)

BB
BRI (E 1,098,52678 7T
BITIEINZ 1D 8RB 100
ERRIRR(E 833,333/ 7T
B AR I 174
FFl| & 3%
BhI8 = 19.334%
i B2 0%
4 [ b 1) 2.275%
] 58.497%

NFEFEFHERTABE G ARE
TOMARERE R FBHIR 18 - A FEFT 2 AR
% (B Ko 78 BB R A IE KL ©

R_E—RNE=ZA=+—B HiERE
Huh SIEg N ER T TEE R R AN
/R B% R I A BREE S AN, R A4
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For the year ended 31 March 2016 #E_ZF— < F=A=+—HAILFE

20. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND

21.

20. HMEWRKIA BERAMNRE

PREPAYMENTS
2016 2015
—E—XRE —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT TAET
Interest receivable JRE WL FI) B, 783 161
Prepayments T FRIE 778 701
Other receivables and deposits paid Hth e FIE R B R &
(note a) (P 7Ea) 59,733 89,634
61,294 90,496
Note: B3t
(@)  The Group's other receivables and deposits paid were mainly @ RZIE—RFE=ZA=+—HB ZxEHZHM

refundable deposits paid for potential investments in amount of
HK$59,000,000 as at 31 March 2016 (2015: HK$89,000,000).

BANK AND CASH BALANCES

EURERE MRS EFEREBERE BN
AR IR 459,000,000 T (—ZE—H4E:
89,000,0005 7T ) ©

21. RITERBREERE

2016 2015

—E-XRE —ET—RF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAET

Bank and cash balances RITEREERF 38,726 2,193
Fixed deposits TEHF R 50,088 -
88,814 2,193

The effective interest rates of the deposits in 2016 range from
0.001% to 0.5% (2015: 0.001% to 1.1%) per annum and all

of deposits have a maturity within three months from initial

inception.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily

bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with

creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

—E-XNEGERZ2EBEFNEN T0.001%E
0.5% (ZZE—HRF:0001%E1.1%) ' FIBFR
HREBNLSERE B =188 RE|H-

RITEFREE B RITERF R LT B RRA
B-RITHEFEFEANOHYEBENTHER
RUFIRT

Annual Report %3 2016 95



China Investment Development Limited o A B & FHEAR A F

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bk 1 T 5 8 0 B ik

For the year ended 31 March 2016 #E T — < H=A=+—HILFE

22. SHARE CAPITAL

22. B

Number of ordinary shares

LERHA
at HK$0.01 at HK$0.001
per share per share HK$'000
BREE SREE
0.01%& Tt 0.001%& T TERT
Authorised EE
At 1 April 2014 RZE—NFMA—H 10,000,000,000 - 100,000
Effect of share subdivision ~ JRH R4 2 2
(note (d)) (MEW)) (10,000,000,000)  100,000,000,000 -
At 31 March 2015, 1 April R-Z—HhEF
2015, and 31 March 2016 ~ = A=+—H"
—E—RFMHA—H
RZF—RF
—A=+—H - 100,000,000,000 100,000
Issued 21T
At 1 April 2014 R-ZZE—MNFEMPA—H 772,450,760 - 7,725
Issue of shares (note (a)) BTG (KiEE@)) 22,000,000 - 220
Shares issued in acquisition U8 IR AN 1% & BF
of equity investments BT (KiEE(b))
(note (b)) 7,800,727 - 78
Shares issued under share 1R & EE A% HE 5T 2
option scheme (note (c)) BTG (MFE() 32,000,000 - 320
Effect of share subdivision R0 #F4 2 £
(note (d)) (FEE(d) (834,251,487) 8,342,514,870 -
At 31 March 2015 and R-ZE—h%F
1 April 2015 ZA=+—HEK
—E—RFWMA—H - 8,342,514,870 8,343
Issue of shares (note (e)) BTR D (B5E(e)) - 570,000,000 570
Shares issued in acquisition U B IR K45 & B
of equity investments BTG (MFEM)
(note (f) - 24,242,424 24
~ 8936757294 8,937
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22. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes:

(a)

On 20 August 2014, the Company entered into a placing
agreement with the placing agent pursuant to which the
placing agent conditionally agreed to place, to not less than
six placees for up to 22,000,000 new shares of the Company
at a price of HK$1.45 per placing share. The placing was
completed on 29 August 2014 and none of the placees became
a substantial shareholder after the completion of placing. The
aggregate nominal value of the placing shares issued of the
shares was HK$220,000.

On 2 May 2014, the Company entered into an agreement
with a vendor to acquire the sale shares by issuing 3,755,102
consideration shares. On 9 June 2014, issue of consideration
shares has been completed at market quoted price of HK$1.88
per share and the aggregate nominal value of the shares was
HK$37,551.

On 12 June 2014, the Company entered into an agreement
to acquire additional sale shares with the same vendor by
issuing 2,000,000 consideration shares. On 9 July 2014, issue
of consideration shares has been completed at market quoted
price of HK$1.77 per share and the aggregate nominal value of
the shares was HK$20,000.

On 12 August 2014, the Company entered into an agreement
with another vendor to acquire the sales shares by issuing
2,045,625 consideration shares at an issue price of HK$1.60 per
share. On 19 August 2014, issue of consideration shares has
been completed at the issue price and the aggregate nominal
value of the shares was HK$20,456.

China Investment Development Limited o 1Bl & % AR A A
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NEZAZT—ALFE

22. BA(4#)

PsE:

(@)

RZZE-—WMFENAZ+B AATERE
RIEBFI S Bt BEREBEBKEF
R ELZERESRM1.458T 2B BF
R 7S 4 A B A BL S % 2522,000,0000% 28 A
ARG -BEEFHEER-ZZ—HFNA
ZHNBER BEAEAREEBEER
BRABEBRRE - FETEERG 2 BEE
/220,000 7T °

RZE—NFRAZH AREIHEEHE]L
Wi - B iBEE1T3,755, 1028 R BN U BB 1S
ERG - BITRERNMENRZZ—WFRA
NS RESRI8SE TN Bz
4T (E /37,5518 7T

RZZ—WFA A+=ZB ARAHFA—&
JTRISL W 33 B %172,000,0008 X B R
HBESERD - BOTRERNDER T~
FLANBETSRESL 77ETTEK

fctn 2 #8180 {8 420,000 7T

RZE—WFENA+ZR ARFEE—&
TR ik B RIREITE SR 0BT
772,045,625 (R AB B 15 W BB 1 5 AR 1D © 81T
REBHER-_Z—NENA+NLBEHE
TEER D 2 B TEE A20,4567 7T °
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For the year ended 31 March 2016 #E T — < H=A=+—HILFE

22. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes: (continued)

98

(@

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the subscription rights
attaching to 31,500,000 and 500,000 share options were
exercised at the subscription price of HK$0.2552 and HK$1.824
per share respectively, resulting in the issue of 32,000,000
shares of HK$0.01 each with an aggregate nominal value of
HK$320,000.

Pursuant to the share subdivision on 2 January 2015, the
authorised share capital of the Company of HK$100,000,000
was divided into 100,000,000,000 subdivided shares, of which
8,342,514,870 subdivided shares were issued and fully paid.
After the shares subdivision, each of the existing issued and
unissued shares of par value of HK$0.01 each in the share
capital of the Company was subdivided into ten subdivided
shares of par value of HK$0.001 each.

On 25 September 2015, the Company entered into a placing
agreement with the placing agent pursuant to which the
placing agent conditionally agreed to place, to not less than
six placees for up to 570,000,000 new shares of the Company
at a price of HK$0.148 per placing share. The placing was
completed on 20 October 2015 and none of the placees
became a substantial shareholder after the completion of
placing. The aggregate nominal value of the placing shares
issued of the shares was HK$570,000.

On 3 June 2015, the Company entered into an agreement
with a vendor to acquire the sale shares by issuing 24,242,424
consideration shares at an issue price of HK$0.33 per share.
On 26 June 2015, issue of consideration shares has been
completed at the market quoted price of HK$0.26 per share
and the aggregate nominal value of the shares was HK$24,242.

Annual Report &% 2016

22. BA(4#)

PsE:

(@

(%)

E—E-RE=A=t—HIEE 5F
A31,500,0001% F500,00017 & B AE I 45 > 52
88 1 4% R BB (B B 1%0.2552/%8 7T ]1.8248 7T
AT BHEITERABENE T ZRG
32,000,0007% * 42 1 & /320,000 7T °

BER-ZZE—RAF—AZRETZRH
48 - KA R) 2 0% TE AR Z5100,000,0005%
7T % £100,000,000,0000% 4 41 B% {5 - H e
8,342,514, 870/ Hr AR 1 A B BT R BUE X
PR MIFMEE  RRRRARZREE
00TBTTZ B BERITRAEITROIFAA
TR SRR EE0.0018 T 2 Hr AR 17

R-Z—HAFNAA-+HA  ARFEERE
RIEBFI S Bt REREBEE KEF
A= SRS R7D0.1488 T 2 ER » AR
78 7S 4 A BE A BE S 5 %5570,000,0008% 7
REFRG -BEEFHEERZ=ZZ—RF+A
ZH AN BEARANEE SETKE
RAEERRE -FTETRERN ZLEER
570,0005 JT °

RZE—RFANA=B KAQREEH]
Y BREETESTROIIETET
24,242, 4243 B IR 0 WHE FF & IR 199 < 35 1T
REBROHER -_E—RENA-+ B
MHREFR026E LR D 2 BEE
24,2827 7T ©
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23. RESERVES 23. f#fE
COMPANY
NN
Investment Share
Share  revaluation option Accumulated
premium reserve reserves losses Total
REEMR
RRE wE BRERE RiAER At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TET THET FHET TET
At 1 April 2014 R-F-NFEMA—H 207,212 - 54,783 (114,341) 147,654
Loss for the year AEEEE - - - (108,410) (108,410)
Other comprehensive income Hi 2B
Change in fair value of available- A EHBEE L
for-sale financial assets NSEEL) - 6,544 - - 6,544
Total comprehensive income AEERENRESE
for the year - 6,544 - (108,410) (101,866)
Issue of shares BTl 31,680 - - - 31,680
Shares issued on acquisition of YR AR BREITRM
equity investments 13,795 - - - 13,795
Shares issued under share option  1RE MM BRI Ti D
scheme 12,594 - (3,964) - 8,630
Recogpnition of share options fER B i - - 72,592 - 72,592
Share issue expenses B ETHRY (263) - - - (263)
At 31 March 2015 and RZE-1%F
1 April 2015 ZA=+t-HK
“E-A%FMA—H 265,018 6,544 123,411 (222,751) 172,222
Loss for the year AEEER - - = (19,989) (19,989)
Other comprehensive income Hi 2B
Change in fair value of available-  AJREHBEEZ
for-sale financial assets NFEEE - 31,838 - - 31,838
Total comprehensive income AERRZENGEE
for the year - 31,838 - (19,989) 11,849
Issue of shares BITRRD 83,790 - - = 83,790
Shares issued on acquisition of ~ WREERR AR ERFETARD
equity investments 6,279 - - - 6,279
Share issue expenses RDEITHX (429) = = = (429)
At 31 March 2016 RIE—AF
—A=1+—H 354,658 38,382 123,411 (242,740) 273,711
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23.

24.

RESERVES (continued)

The following describes the nature and purpose of each

reserve within owners’ equity:

Reserve

e

23. R )
U AN HE SN B2 ERE 62
fiat

Description and purpose

WK B8

Share premium

Pt )4 (8

Investment revaluation reserve

REEMRHE

Exchange reserve

P 3 188

Share option reserve

B

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company's share option scheme (the “Scheme”), was
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 9 April 2009 for
the primary purpose of providing incentive to directors and
eligible employees. Under the Scheme, the Board of Directors
of the Company may grant options to eligible employees,

including directors of the Company and its subsidiaries,

Amount subscribed for share capital in excess of nominal value.

RBEA BB mE-

Gains/losses arising on recognising financial assets classified as available-for-

sale at fair value.

A TERRDBRATHEMBEEMEE 2 W B8 -

Gains/losses arising on retranslating the net assets of foreign operations into

presentation currency.

BRENNERENRMEBIEREEFEMEE 2 W BE-

Cumulative expenses recognised on the granting of share options to the

employees over the vesting period.

EBHERREERLBHREERRF

24, BRETE
ANERBER -_ZENEMANBBBZ RS
RINREAER 8 ([518]]) - TZ AR A%ED
ERRAEKES - RIEHE AARERSH
MAERES (BEAARRENBARNES)
A R A D R 2 A o B AR AR
AR A A B B S 1 R B .00B T

to subscribe for shares of the Company. Consideration of

HK$1.00 is payable by each grantee upon acceptance of an

option.
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For the year ended 31 March 2016 #E_F— < F=A=+—HAILFE

24. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

On 30 July 2013, the shareholders have approved the
refreshment of the 10% scheme mandate limit under the
Scheme of the Company in the annual general meeting. The
total number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10%
of the shares of the company in issue at any point in time,
without prior approval from the Company's shareholders.
Option previously granted under the Schemes including those
outstanding, cancelled, lapsed in accordance with the Scheme
or exercised options will not be counted for the purpose
of calculating the limit as “refreshed”. On 24 January 2014,
the number of shares in respect of which options had been
granted to eligible persons under the Scheme was 64,430,000,
representing 8.37% of the shares of the Company in issue at
that date. Options granted to independent non-executive
directors in excess of 0.1% of the Company's share capital and
with a value in excess of HK$5 million must be approved in
advance by the Company’s shareholders. On 16 September
2014, 81,100,000 share options were granted to subscribe for
a total of 81,100,000 new ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
in the share capital of the Company to eligible participants,
subject to acceptance of the eligible participants, under the
share option scheme adopted by the Company on 9 April
2009. Among the 81,100,000 Share Options granted, a total of
9,350,000 Share Options were granted to the Directors, chief
executive and a substantial shareholder.

24.

BRESTE (2

RZZ—=FtA=+HB BREEHRBRRBEF
A& L EF AR BT EITE T 210%:1 213
TEPREE o RAC AR RIRBR L& RIBETE
AR R AT R R BT S BB AR A A
T 2 O 3TRM10% - BAEREAE R Z
AR (RIBMARTTE BEaEH  RBFEIEX
MR B ATE 2 AR BTt A T&E 5] R
E-oRZE—NMNFEF—AZ+MA REFEIE
MEBERALTELE ZERERSRRNDEE B
64,430,0008% ' HER AR EE B 2 BTG
8.37% ° WA IEHITE R 2 BRI RR B
AN B AR ZR0.19% M (& iR H15,000,0005%8 7T + Bl
BEADNRBREELME - RZF—NFENA
TRE ARFARBER -_ZEAENANBE
2 BB Bl A AR 2 BLE 1 1H 81,100,000
1P EERAE - AlERRAE A A AR AN R B AR I (EO.01
BT 2 HE B A ££81,100,0000% (BES BE1%
SHERMNTAESE) o % H 281,100,00017
BREEFR A H£9,3500000) NRTEE -T2
TBRABER—BETERRE-
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24. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 24, BRRESTE (2
The following table discloses movements of the Company’s TEREEREE T -RF=ZA=+—HIF
share options granted under the Scheme during the year EREFERENARRRERE S, #8):

ended 31 March 2016:

Number of share options

BREHE
Ratify
previous
Exercise At Granted Exercised Lapsed lapsed At
price 1 April during during during share 31 March
Category Date of grant Exercise period per share 2015 the year the year the year option 2016
RZZ-1§ ATRLE R-B-RE
o] RAH i BROTEER mA-A ERRH ERTR ERRM  XMERE =B=t-B
Executive director 24 January 2014 24 January 2014 to HK$0.1824* 6,000,000 - - - - 6,000,000
23 January 2019
nirEz “T-ME-ACHOA S CE-RE-A-TEAE 0184%ET
“E-NF-AZTER
Non-executive director 24 January 2014 24 January 2014 to HK$0.1824* 2,600,000 - - - - 2,600,000
23 January 2019
FNTES “Z-ME-AZHOR CE-OF-A-TEAE 018MYET
“E-hNE-A-t=A
Independent non-executive 24 January 2014 24 January 2014 to HK$0.1824* 1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000
directors 23 January 2019
BUFNTES “T-ME-ACHOA 0 CE-RE-A-TEAE 0184%ET
“E-NF-AZTER
Others 24 January 2014 24 January 2014 to HKS$0.1824* 54,330,000 - - - - 54,330,000
23 January 2019
Kt ZE-EF-BITMA ZF-EE-ACHEAE 018WET
“E2-hNE-A-t=A
Executive director 16 September 2014 16 September 2014 to HK$0.1560 2,110,000 - - - - 2,110,000
15 September 2019
nirEz ZE-MEAATAR ZR-MEARTAEE 015609
ZZ-NFENATRR
Non-executive director 16 September 2014 16 September 2014 to HK$0.1560* 130,000 - - - - 130,000
15 September 2019
FNTES SE-REAATAR ZR-MEARTARE 015609
“Z-N\ENATER
Independent non-executive 16 September 2014 16 September 2014 to HK$0.1560 5,000,000 - - - - 5,000,000
directors 15 September 2019
BUFNTES ZE-MEAATAR ZR-MEARTAEE 015609
ZZ-NFENATRRE
Others 16 September 2014 16 September 2014 to HK$0.1560* 73,860,000 - - - - 73,860,000
15 September 2019
2t SE-REAATAR ZR-EEARTARE 015609
“Z-N\ENATER
Total 145,030,000 - - - - 145,030,000

a5t

102 Annual Report %3 2016



China Investment Development Limited o Bl & % AR A A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Aok 1 TV 05 % B ik

For the year ended 31 March 2016 #E_F— < F=A=+—HAILFE

24. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

As at the date of grant, the exercise prices of the share options
were HK$1.824 and HK$1.56. The exercise prices were adjusted
to HK$0.1824 and HK$0.1560 following the share subdivision on
2 January 2015 (note 22(d)).

The number and weighted average exercise price of the
share options exercisable at the end of the reporting period
were 145,030,000 (2015: 145,030,000) and HK$0.1676 (2015:
HK$0.1676) respectively.

The weighted average remaining contractual life for share
options outstanding at the end of the reporting period is 3.2
years (2015: 4.2 years). The weighted average share price at
the date of exercise of options exercised during the year was
HKS$nil (2015: HK$1.7995).

The total number of securities available for issue under the
share option scheme as at 31 March 2016 was 1,450,300,000
shares (2015: 1,450,300,000 shares) which represented 16.23%
of the issued share capital of the Company as at 31 March
2016 (2015: 17.38%).

On 16 September 2014, the Company issued equity-settled
share-based payments to certain directors and grantees
as compensation. Equity-settled share-based payments
are measured at fair value (excluding the effect of non
market-based vesting conditions) at the date of grant. No
vesting condition was imposed and the share options were
exercisable immediate on grant date. The fair value of the
equity-settled share-based payments determined at the date
of grant and expensed when the share options accepted by
grantee. The total estimated fair value of the share option was
HK$72,592,000, which had been expensed in profit or loss and
credited in the share option reserve during the year ended
31 March 2015. The following significant assumptions were
used to derive the fair value using the Binomial option pricing

model:

1. an expected volatility range of 82.80 per cent;

2. expected annual dividend yield range equal to zero;

24. Eﬁﬂﬂg‘l‘ﬁ (4%)

R BB BREZITEER.824E T
MI1S6E LR —E—RAF— A -A#
TR FARE 1T E TR 2018248 T &
0.15607% 7T (M 5E22(d)) °

P SRS BAR AT 1T (0 B AR A 2 BB R nie 15
17{£ 8 5 B 5145,030,0001p ( —F — F 4 -
145,030,000 ) }%0.1676% 7L (= F — R & :
0.16767 L) °

RS R ARITE B IRAE 2 IR E 4

FHAI2F (ZT—RF 4200) - FRNELT

FEERENITE B2 MEFHREARTAET
T —FEF 179958 L) e

RZZ—RF=ZA=+—08 BRETEET

3817 2 B H 4 8051,450,300,0000% (= Z—F

4 :1,450,300,0000% ) Az 17 - iHE R AR AR =

T-ANFEZA=ZF+ B 2B ETRA1623%
—FHF:17.38%) °

RZZ—NFALA+ B RARAETES
MAEARANMERESEEABR G N RIEAHE-
RS EE RO AN R B AR AFEE
(TBENENEAER Y BB ZFE) -
A3 42 S D 55 BB 6 - T B AR e AT 0 2 B ER D
B 1T{E o s S E AR M R 2 A FERFH
HHEAEE T - WA A B R AR R ST 88 o B
EZT—RF-A=-t—HLFE BREZ
st R FELET2,592,0008 TERIBRP X
8 WET ARERREGE R o EA R EER
AFEQATERERAUTERRR

1. T& HA K i %6 [E /382.80%

2. TEAHBREFXHERERE:
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24.

25.

26.

NEZAZT—HULEFE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 24, BRRESTE (2
3. the estimated expected life of the options granted 3. FRABELBEREGE R FIRE:
during the year is 5 years; and M
4. the quoted risk free rate with expected life of 5 years 4. BEERZZ-—HEFEAATBMAELE
were 1.44 per cent, which are adopted to calculate the MR iE 2 N E MR TR F B RS 2
fair value of options granted on 16 September 2014. B N R 31.44% -
The volatility assumption, measured at the standard deviation REHRERKZFERESE ZRBERK
of expected share price returns, is based on a statistical NBEhFERREBZRAITAEE-
analysis of daily share prices over the last five years.
The Binomial option pricing model requires the input of TIHRAHRTEEXERGASEIBMR-
highly subjective assumptions. As changes in subjective input MR ETEEBABRRBEZ A QNP EGRHE
assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimated, in REBATE MESRAR/BEEARLATRM
the Directors’ opinion, the existing model does not necessarily AREE—HEBREQNTFEZT A
provide a reliable single measure of the fair value of the share
options.
NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE 25. BREEFE
Net asset value per share is calculated by dividing the net BREEFERITAGEVBRARZEE
assets included in the consolidated statement of financial FEH2864180008 T (ZE—hF - EEF
position of approximately HK$286,418,000 (2015: net assets of 1E189,067,000 L) BR AR =T —RNF = A
HK$189,067,000) and the number of ordinary shares in issue as Zt+—B2ZBETE B EE8,936,757,294%
at 31 March 2016, being 8,936,757,294 (2015: 8,342,514,870). (ZZ—H%:8,342,514,8700 ) 5 &
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 26. BEALRS
(a) Compensation of key management personnel, including @ TIEZEBAS (PEEERAMIEEE
the directors and other members of key management, AB)FABEMT :
during the year is as follows:
2016 2015
—RE —hF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Salaries, allowances and benefits Fo o RMEEYNR
in kind 2,921 11,070
Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in FREEME 2 E— T BHNEA Y
note 14 to the consolidated financial statements. KM 14
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26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 26. BEAXXRSH (&)
(b) During the year, the Group entered into the following b) FA AEEGHEBEEALILUTR

transactions with related parties:

5

Name of related party Nature of transaction 2016 2015
BEATER XEME —E-REF —E-T0F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT TR
China Everbright Securities (HK) Limited Investment manager fee 720 720
("China Everbright”) (Note i)
REXAES (BB)ERAF REKIEER
(MRBIYeR]) (Bif&ED)
China Everbright Broker commission charge - 982
R R E kAl
China Everbright Interest expenses - 43
REYEAR FMBRX
Note: P 5T -

(i) On 30 April 2015, the Company renewed the investment (i)
management agreement with China Everbright for a period of

three years effective from 1 May 2015. The annual investment
manager’s fee payable to China Everbright is HK$720,000

(2015: HK$720,000).

R-Z—AFMA=+H AAFEFREY
AREBFEEEHZ BT —AFHAA—
AREN B =F SFERMNFBENXKZ
WA KIEE M A720,00087C (ZE—RF:
720,000/ 7T ) °
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27. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME 27. EARERE
The Group has participated in a defined contribution REEZRBREIERAESASGIAMESE
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) REBRELHTHEEREHEAESEE
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance ([8HE2TE]) BB RTE 2 EERKRER
for all eligible employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the ZEENSF BAEIAZEHZESFE -RIE
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group, in ZatEl KB (BEX) REEEEBERES
funds under the control of trustee. Under the scheme, each of Z2HE (TERAFMUERBEEITENEG) 25%
the Group (the employer) and its employees makes monthly BAMBESHEELHR B T —MFX
contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the employees’ A—BR EXREESEZHEEZSREH
earnings as defined under the Mandatory Provident Fund 1,500 7T ( ZF —PU4F 1,500/ 7T ) « IL1& 2 fit
Scheme Ordinance. The contributions from each of the TR B R o I MR WA FRUARL A SR SR AN 2 4
employer and employees are subject to a maximum e
contribution of HK$1,500 per month with effective from 1
June 2014 (2015: HK$1,500) and thereafter contributions are
voluntary. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the
contributions payable in the future years.
The total contributions charged to the consolidated income ST AGRE W ER &R 2 R EREAY79,000/8 7T (=
statement amounted to approximately HK$79,000 (2015: T—RF: 64,0008 7T)  IEAEBERBEZ
approximately HK$64,000), representing contributions payable E-REZA=+—HILFEENRESTE
to the MPF Scheme by the Group in respect of the year ended 2R
31 March 2016.
28. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 28. REHERE
At the end of reporting period, the minimum lease payments REEEHAR RETAREECSEEMRTEE
under non-cancellable operating leases for leased premise are ¥REMNz&EMSKREDT
payable as follows:
2016 2015
—E-AF —T-RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Within one year —FR 2,269 1,707
In the second to fifth year inclusive F_EEENF
(BREREMF) - 1,580
2,269 3,287
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29. HOLDING COMPANY STATEMENT OF 29. R=ZE—R"E=ZA=+—HEEKRAT
FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 MARCH 2016 B SRR =
2016 2015
—E-XEF —E—RF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M FE FHET FAET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Mz WE NEE 206 356
Investments in subsidiaries R B AR ZI’E 16 781 782
Available-for-sale financial assets AHETBEE 79,644 44,036
80,631 45174
Current assets REEE
Financial assets at fair value TR EFALEER
through profit or loss BRI EE 19 38,235 29,130
Other receivables, deposits and H JEYCRIE e K
prepayments TR RRIB 61,080 90,454
Amounts due from subsidiaries N NGIE 16,223 14,744
Bank and cash balances RTRBRET 88,809 2,160
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables and accrued charges  E B B K JEET B 2,330 1,097
Net current assets RBEEZE 202,017 135,391
Net assets EEFE 282,648 180,565
EQUITY R
Share capital il 22 8,937 8,343
Reserves B 23 273,711 172,222
Total equity MM AR 282,648 180,565
On behalf of the board of directors REESE
Chen Yin Chan Cheong Yee
BRJE [CR=F3
Director Director
EZ EZ
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2016 #E T —<H=A=+—HILFE

30. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 30. RERE D M BEERMEEEME
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY
The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair TRIRMFANTAERNRERBEEREE
values of the Group's financial assets and liabilities as defined ZBREE ;A TE
in note 4(f):
2016 2015
—E-RE “E—ARF
Carrying Carrying
amount Fair value amount Fair value
REE DNFE REE NS ]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THET FET FET
Financial assets MKEE
Available-for-sale financial assets AHENKEE 93,475 93,475 61,541 61,541
Fair value through profit or loss: BRATESAEER
BRI
— Designated at initial recognition ~ — ¥R IETE 26,155 26,155 21,832 21,832
— Held for trading —REEE 12,080 12,080 7,298 7,298
Loans and receivables: BB R -
— Other receivables and deposits ~ — H i JE U FUIE &
7% 60,516 60,516 89,795 89,795
~ Bank and cash balances - RIOMAEEF 88,814 88,814 2,193 2,193
Financial liabilities B¥EE
Financial liabilities measured BEHEK AT EZ
at amortised cost BBAaE (2,389) (2,389) (1,098) (1,098)
The following table provides an analysis of financial TRIVRIRAFHESZRE D AR TFEFIEZ W
instruments carried at fair value by level of fair value hierarchy: BIEDH:
Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
B HRIEEXEBEERTISRE CRERAE)
Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and
E_: HE (MER)HEE (BREERNEEXRBBEZAIBERARE MIEE-—RAEERE: X
Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
B WHEERAIBREMISEENEEXAGEZRABE (TABE 2 BARE) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2016 #E_F— < F=A=+—HAILFE

30. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 30. RERHEP 2 BEERMBEER
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY
(continued)
2016
—E-RE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E— B B Hsct
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHER FTAET FHER
Available-for-sale JHENKEE
financial assets
— Private equity securities —~FLEREES = = 93,475 93,475
Financial assets at fair value BRAVEFAERR
through profit or loss BEZHEEE
- Listed equity securities — F iR S 12,080 - - 12,080
— Investments in convertible — BN RRES
bonds - - 26,155 26,155
12,080 - 119,630 131,710
2015
—T-RF
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FE— F_; BE=M; it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET FET FET
Available-for-sale JHEMBEE
financial assets
— Private equity securities —NLEREES - - 61,541 61,541
Financial assets at fair value BRAFEFALEERER
through profit or loss RBRECHBEE
- Listed equity securities — FiRREE S 7,298 - - 7,298
— Investments in convertible —BRERITBRRES
bonds - - 21,832 21,832
7,298 - 83,373 90,671
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2016 #E T — < H=A=+—HILFE

30. HEHIB D M BEERMEEBEH
B

30. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY
(continued))

Reconciliations for financial instruments carried at fair value

RESRTAIBREAZE (E=H) LA FE
FIEMM B TR Z HRMT

based on significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) are as

follows:

Financial assets
at fair value
through profit or
loss: Investments
in convertible

Available for sale
financial assets:
Investments in
unlisted equity

bonds securities Total
BRAFEFAE HE
BHREEZ MEEE:
MBEE - RE BERFLT
RAgRES PRAEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
At 1 April 2015 R-_ZE—HFMA—H 21,832 61,541 83,373
Purchases EE - 18,303 18,303
Total gain/(loss) s (E518)
—in profit or loss (note a) — R (MsEa) 4,323 (17,670) (13,347)
— in other comprehensive —REMEE Y
income (note b) (FizEb) - 31,301 31,301
At 31 March 2016 M_Z—REF
=A=+—H 26,155 93,475 119,630
Gain/(loss) recognised in MAEENHRE B
profit or loss relating to RREAFHMEIA
financial instruments held RiBm R
by the Group at the end Wz (&)
of reporting date 4,323 (17,670) (13,347)
At 1 April 2014 R-ZZ—MFMA—H 7,513 14,900 22,413
Redemption & o] (6,600) - (6,600)
Purchases ®E 20,000 37,492 57,492
Total gain U
—in profit or loss (note a) — B (sta) 919 - 919
— in other comprehensive —REM 2 E RS
income (note b) (Ffi5Eb) - 9,149 9,149
At 31 March 2015 RZZE—HF=A
=+—H 21,832 61,541 83,373
Gain recognised in profit or  BLZARSKE R IS A HA
loss relating to financial ERETSMEITA
instruments held by the RiEmPER 2 K
Group at the end of
reporting date 919 - 919
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For the year ended 31 March 2016 #E_F— < F=A=+—HAILFE

30. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND

31.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY

(continued))
Notes:

(@  Included in the change in fair value of and net realised gain/
(loss) on disposal of financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss.

(b) Included in the other comprehensive income related to
investment revaluation.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group's major financial instruments include equity
investments, other receivables and deposits, and other
payables. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed
in the respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments and the policies applied by the Group
to mitigate these risks are set out below. Management
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are

implemented in a timely and effective manner.

Interest rate risk

Except for the cash and cash equivalents which carry floating
interest rate, the Group has no other significant interest-
bearing assets with floating rates. The Group’s income and
operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes

in market interest rates.

Sensitivity analysis

Assuming the balance at 31 March 2016 was the amount
for the whole year, if the interest rate was 50 basis points
higher or lower and all other variables were held constant,
the Group's loss for the year ended 31 March 2016 would
decrease or increase by HK$444,070 (2015: decrease or
increase by HK$10,964).

30.

31.

BERE D M BEERMBAER
L-4E )

Wi

@ HARAFEHAEAREEZHHEE
ATVEZ 2B REERATENS AERS
EEZHBAREZ DRRNE (FB)F
o

b) FHAFHREEMZHEMZEKE-

MHEREEBRERBE

AEEET2MHTABREARE HEK
PIBNLE AR EMEN IR - ZEHETA
ZHBRAEHNERE - BRZFMHEITALZ
B B 7 £ 18] PR DA AF R 72 5 L B 2 BRSR 351 1A
T-EREEERZERBARRER RARE
I A o

F = [ B
BRESRESSEMNTBAET BN A
B B FIRE B2 BAM AR
AEEWAREERSREADS BTN
CHEL TN

BBEDN

BRNR-E—NEZA=F—B2&H2F
JE 2 5RE8 - WA Aok TR S0MES - mATA
HtEHERTE A EERE—_T— X F=
R=+—BIFE 2 BB 5 hn444,070
BT (ZE—RF RS IN0,9648 ) ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2016 #E T —<H=A=+—HILFE

31.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from various currency exposures,
primarily with respect to the Renminbi (“RMB”). Foreign
exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities and net investments in foreign

operations.

Sensitivity analysis
The following table shows the sensitivity analysis of a 5%
increase/decrease in RMB against the Hong Kong dollars, the

effect in the loss for the year is as follows:

31.

MBEREEEERBEK &)

SMNE LB

AEBEBEB AZ KB ZHEE 2 INE
R R ERBRKEARE (TARE]) -
SMNERBR R B BIIEB ZAREERS O
REERBEARIRE T

BREDN
TRIFARE LB TIHE R E%ERFE
BEEZE ZGURED

Impact of RMB

ARBZzEE
2016 2015
—B-AF —
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET THTT
Increase/decrease in loss for the year REZFEE MR 294 304

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from
investments in convertible bonds, investments in PRC unlisted
equity securities and investments in Hong Kong listed
equity securities, which were classified as either available-
for-sale financial assets (note 18) or financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss (note 19) on the consolidated
statement of financial position. To manage its price risk arising
from investments in financial assets, the Group diversified its

portfolio.
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For the year ended 31 March 2016 #E_F— < F=A=+—HAILFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Equity price risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every 5%
(2015: 5%) change in the fair value of the financial assets with
all other variables held constant and based on their carrying
value amounts at the end of the reporting period. For the
available-for-sale investment, the impact is deemed to be on
the investment revaluation reserve and no account is given for
factors such as impairment, which might have impact on the

income statement.

31.

Impact of investments

in convertible bonds

MBEREEEERBEK &)

RAERERR (&)

BRED
TRIAEMERMEBEFITZZERT
REMBEENHERREHESEAE 2
FEFSRER (—F—0F 5%) LGRE 3t
AHERENS ARSHHRAKERESR
fMEBEKEE ML EZBEGNBESH
EFBERERZAR-

Impact of investment
Impact of available in Hong Kong listed

for sale financial assets equity securities

ERLITRERS
TRRESFRECEE THENBEEZYE REZE
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
ZE-RFE —Z-1F ZB-RE —T-1F ZE-RE —T-1F
HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FTET TER FTET TER FTET
Increase/decrease in loss REFEBEMFD
for the year 1,308 1,092 - - 604 365
Increase/decrease in Higs@Een/ mo
other equity reserve - - 4,674 3,077 - -
Credit risk EERR

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group's
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuation in cash
flows. With regard to 2015 and thereafter, the liquidity of
the Group is primarily dependent on its ability to maintain
adequate cash flow from operations and to raise funds
through issue and allotment of new shares to meet its debt

obligations as they fall due.

AEETESAEFEERR -

RBETER
REERDESRRT S ARE L #5
EEERARM AT RIREFEYKRF A
RAKEEKLERTES YWRERSRE
BBz B - _B-HFREEMNE  FEH
ZRBETETERRNEEXBRFTRARSE
MEBAREBBEITREENBNHERESUR
B B H Ry P A BT AE 2 B
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For the year ended 31 March 2016 #E T — < H=A=+—HILFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)
The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities at the
end of reporting period is as follows:
Weighted
average
effective
interest rate
ik B
BRRAZ

%

31.

MERKREREBERBE 2
RBESERE (&)
AEERBERR T BEEEIHBERAT
Total
Less than 1 year undiscounted Carrying
1year  to5years  cash flows amount
FHRRE
-fR -FEIf RERR REE
HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000

TAT TRT TET TET

As at 31 March 2016 RZZE-REZA=1+—H

Other payables and accrued charges Hit TR REER N/ATEH 2,389 - 2,389 2,389

As at 31 March 2015 RZE-RE=A=1+—H

Other payables and accrued charges Hiv R FUEREER N/ATE A 1,098 - 1,098 1,098
32. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT POLICY 32. E£EEEE

The Group's objectives of managing capital are to safeguard
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure
to reduce the cost of capital. In order to maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders,

issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated
as debts divided by total assets. Debts included other
payables and accrued charges, borrowing and amount due
to directors and total assets included non-current assets and
current assets as shown in the consolidated statement of

financial position.
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For the year ended 31 March 2016 #E_F— < F=A=+—HAILFE

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT POLICY (continued)

The gearing ratio at the end of reporting period was as

32. ESEHEREK (&)

RBERR BEEBGLEWT:

follows:
2016 2015
i .
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Debts B 2,389 1,098
Total assets BERE 288,807 190,165
Gearing ratio BEAEHLE 0.83% 0.58%

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 30 June 2016.

33. HEMBEHR

EXg R T RFARAA=THIbEREE

TP BEHRE -
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

TuAE [ 05 R

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1t—-HLEE

2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
SB-AF ZT0F ZTNF ZT-=F ZTCF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FHET FHET FHET FET
RESULTS ES
Revenue g 602 227 257 764 2,786
Loss before income tax expense B ATERFAS AIE B (23,974) (88,885) (89,215) (8,972) (7,768)
Income tax expense FEBAX - - - - -
Loss for the year attributable to RATEBA
owners of the Company EIEAFREEE (23,974) (88,885) (89,215) (8,972) (7,768)
Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1t—-HLEE
2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
SB-AF ZTLF ZTNF ZT-=F ZTCF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FHET FHET FHET FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERARE
Non-current assets ERBEE 100,464 68,346 21,578 6,802 24,207
Current assets TEEE 188,343 121,819 123,448 31,808 21,122
Current liabilities mEARE (2,389) (1,098) (3,197) 4,519) (3,232)
Non-current liabilities FRHaE - - - - -
Total equity B 286,418 189,067 141,829 34,091 42,097
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